

LIBRARY Michigan State University

This is to certify that the dissertation entitled

SEMILINEAR STOCHASTIC DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS IN HILBERT SPACES DRIVEN BY NON-GAUSSIAN NOISE AND THEIR ASYMPTOTIC PROPERTIES

presented by

LI WANG

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for the

DOCTORAL

degree in

STATISTICS AND PROBABILITY

Major Professor's Signature

Date

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due. MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE
(830 1		

2/05 c:/CIRC/DateDue.indd-p.15

SEMILINEAR STOCHASTIC DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS IN HILBERT SPACES DRIVEN BY NON-GAUSSIAN NOISE AND THEIR ASYMPTOTIC PROPERTIES

By

Li Wang

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to
Michigan State University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Statistics and Probability

2005

ABSTRACT

SEMILINEAR STOCHASTIC DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS IN HILBERT SPACES DRIVEN BY NON-GAUSSIAN NOISE AND THEIR ASYMPTOTIC PROPERTIES

By

Li Wang

A class of stochastic evolution equations with additive noise (compensated Poisson random measures) in Hilbert spaces is considered. We first show existence and uniqueness of a mild solution to the stochastic equation with Lipschitz type coefficients. The properties (homogeneity, Markov, and Feller) of the solution are studied. We then study the stability and exponential ultimate boundedness properties of the solution by using Lyapunov function technique. We also study the conditions for the existence and uniqueness of an invariant measure associated to the solution. At last, an example is given to illustrate the theory.

Copyright by LI WANG 2005 To my parents, my sisters, and Lan

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foremost, I sincerely appreciate my advisor, Dr. V. Mandrekar, without whom this dissertation would not have been possible. This dissertation comes from numerous discussions in his office, from his keen insight and knowledge, from his guidance to a fruitful research area, and his perseverance and support. His assistance in all aspects of academic life was invaluable.

I would like to thank my guidance committee, Dr. Marianne Huebner, Dr. Dennis Gilliland, and Dr. Clifford Weil for serving on my guidance committee. Your help is highly appreciated. My special thanks go to Dr. Connie Page and Dr. Dennis Gilliland for training me as a statistical consultant. I would like to thank Dr. Vincent Melfi, Dr. James Stapleton, Dr. Yimin Xiao, and Dr. Lijian Yang, who taught me in many wonderful courses in statistics and probability.

Last, but not the least, I want to thank the department for offering me an assistantship for five years. I want to thank all the professors and friends who ever helped me during my stay at Michigan State University.

Contents

1	Inti	Introduction		
2	Pre	liminaries	4	
	2.1	Fréchet derivative	4	
	2.2	Gronwall's inequality	5	
	2.3	Poisson random measure	5	
	2.4	Stochastic integral with respect to CPRM	7	
		2.4.1 Stochastic integral for simple functions	8	
		2.4.2 Stochastic integral for functions in H_2	9	
3	Exi	stence and uniqueness of mild solutions to Semilinear SDE's and	l	
		ir properties	11	
	3.1	Mild and strong solutions of equation (3.1)	12	
	3.2	Mild solutions of semilinear SDE's with Lipschitz non-linearities	13	
	3.3	Homogeneity, Markov, and Feller properties of the mild solution	20	
4	Apı	proximating system	25	
	4.1	Sufficient conditions for a mild solution to be a strong solution	25	
	4.2	Approximation part	28	
5	Sta	bility properties of the mild solution	33	
	5.1	Ito formula	33	
	5.2	Exponential stability in the m.s.s	35	
	5.3	Stability in probability	46	
	5.4	Exponential ultimate boundedness in m.s.s	47	
6	Inv	ariant measures	56	
	6.1	Introduction	56	
	6.2	Existence and uniqueness of an invariant measure	57	
	6.3	An example	68	
	6.4	Future research plans	69	
R	IRLI	OGRAPHY	70	

Chapter 1

Introduction

The area of stochastic differential equations (SDE's) in the infinite dimensional Hilbert space with Gaussian noise was motivated by the study of stochastic partial differential equations. Early contributions were made by Pardoux [35], Krylov and Rozovski [23], Metivier [29], Viot [42], and Kallianpur et al. [19] motivated by Zakai's [46] equation arising in filtering problems. These problems are described in Da Prato and Zabczyk [6], who take the approach through semigroup methods as in Ichikawa [17]. The first study of the non-Gaussian noise case was done by Kallianpur and Xiong [20]. Their approach was to study SDE's in duals of nuclear spaces where all bounded sets are compact, but solutions turn out to be "generalized functions". More general equations are studied in Gawareski, Mandrekar, and Richard [10] extending the work of Gikhman and Skorokhod [13].

In this thesis, we take the approach of Da Prato and Zabczyk and Ichikawa to study the non-Gaussian case. We first show that under the growth and Lipschitz conditions, the uniqueness of solution in D([0,T],H). We show that the solution is

homogeneous, Markovian and the transition semigroup is Feller. However, this is a mild solution. In order to apply the recent Itö's formula (Rüdiger and Ziglio [38]), we need to approximate this solution by strong solutions in $C(0,T;L_2^H(\Omega,\mathcal{F},P))$. Here we adapt Ichikawa's technique to generalize to our case Ichikawa's work.

In the second part of the thesis, we study the asymptotic properties of the mild solutions of these SPDE's. We then study the Lyapunov function method first introduced by Khasminski and Mandrekar [22] for the stability in the context of strong solutions as in the works of Pardoux, Krylov and Rozovski. For semilinear equations with Gaussian noise, this method was extended by Liu and Mandrekar [24]. They also studied exponential ultimate boundedness of the strong as well as mild solutions in Gaussian noise case. They showed that the ultimate boundedness can be used to study the existence of invariant measure for strong solutions. In the second part of the thesis, we study the extension of their work for non-Gaussian noise. We also study existence and uniqueness of invariant measures for the case of mild solutions in case the noise is non-Gaussian.

We begin in the next chapter by giving the definition of the Fréchet derivative and stating Taylor's theorem, followed by stochastic integral with respect to compensated Poisson noise as presented in Rüdiger [37]. Rüdiger defines these stochastic integrals for Banach space valued non-anticipative functions under some restriction. These restrictions are removed in Mandrekar and Rüdiger [28] where existence and uniqueness of solutions of Banach space valued SDE's with compensated Poisson noise are studied.

In Chapter 3, we study the existence and uniqueness of a mild solution to the

semilinear SDE's under the growth and Lipschitz type conditions on the nonlinearities. We then study the homogeneity, Markov, and Feller properties of the mild solution. In Chapter 4, we study the approximating system of the semilinear SDE's. We prove that there exists a unique strong solution to the approximating system, and the strong solution converges to the mild solution in $C(0,T;L_2^H(\Omega,\mathcal{F},P))$. In Chapter 5, we study the stability and exponential ultimate boundedness in the m.s.s. of the mild solution by using the Lyapunov function technique. We use Ito formula and the approximating systems as tools. We first prove that the existence of the Lyapunov function is sufficient for the stability and exponential ultimate boundedness in the m.s.s. of the mild solution. Conversely, we construct the Lyapunov function for the linear case, and construct the Lyapunov function for the nonlinear case by using the first order approximation of the coefficients. In Chapter 6, we first give the conditions for the existence and uniqueness of an invariant measure associated to the solution. Finally, we give an example to illustrate our theory.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

In this chapter we recall some definitions and theorems that we will use in our theory.

2.1 Fréchet derivative

The results below are adapted from Schwartz's work [39].

Let H be a real separable Hilbert space, we use $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and $\| \cdot \|_H$ to represent the inner product and norm in H. L(H) denotes the set of bounded linear operators from H to H. Assume $f \colon H \to \mathbb{R}$ is a map and $x,y \in H$.

Definition 2.1.1. We say that f is first order Fréchet differentiable at x, if there exists an $f'(x) \in H$, such that

$$f(x + y) = f(x) + \langle f'(x), y \rangle + o(||y||_H).$$

We say that f is second order Fréchet differentiable at x, if there exists an $f''(x) \in L(H)$, such that

$$f'(x+y) = f'(x) + f''(x)y + o(||y||_H).$$

Definition 2.1.2. A function $f: H \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be in class C^2 on H, written $f \in C^2(H)$, iff f'(x) and f''(x) exists at every point of H and the maps $x \to f'(x)$ and $x \to f''(x)$ are continuous.

Theorem 2.1.1 (Schwartz [39]). Suppose that $f \in C^2(H)$. Then

$$f(x+y) = f(x) + \langle f'(x), y \rangle + \int_0^1 (1-t) \langle f''(x+ty)y, y \rangle dt.$$

Corollary 2.1.1 (Schwartz [39]). Suppose that $f \in C^2(H)$. Then there exists a bounded bilinear function R_2 from H to \mathbb{R} such that

$$f(x+y) = f(x) + \langle f'(x), y \rangle + R_2(y).$$

2.2 Gronwall's inequality

Theorem 2.2.1 (Evans [9]). If for $t_0 \le t \le t_1$, $\phi(t) \ge 0$ and $\psi(t) \ge 0$ are continuous functions such that the inequality

$$\phi(t) \le K + L \int_{t_0}^t \psi(s)\phi(s) ds$$

holds on $t_0 \le t \le t_1$, with K and L positive constants, then on $t_0 \le t \le t_1$,

$$\phi(t) \le K \exp\left(L \int_{t_0}^t \psi(s) \, ds\right).$$

2.3 Poisson random measure

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}, P)$ be a filtered probability space satisfying the "usual hypotheses":

1. \mathcal{F}_t contains all null sets of \mathcal{F} , for all $t \in [0, \infty)$,

2.
$$\mathcal{F}_t = \mathcal{F}_t^+$$
, where $\mathcal{F}_t^+ = \bigcap_{u > t} \mathcal{F}_u$, for all $t \in [0, \infty)$.

Definition 2.3.1. Let (X, \mathcal{X}) be a measurable space. A map: $N : \Omega \times \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ is called a random measure if

- 1. $N(\omega, \cdot)$ is a measure on (X, \mathcal{X}) for each $\omega \in \Omega$,
- 2. $N(\cdot, B)$ is a random variable for each $B \in \mathcal{X}$.

Definition 2.3.2. A random measure N is called *independently scattered* if for any disjoint $B_1, \ldots, B_n \in \mathcal{X}$, the random variables $N(\cdot, B_1), \cdots, N(\cdot, B_n)$ are independent.

Let (E, \mathcal{E}) be a measurable space (E is a complete separable metric space), and let the map: $N: \Omega \times (\mathcal{E} \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}_+)) \to \mathbb{R}$ be a random measure, with $X = E \times \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{E} \bigotimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}_+)$.

Definition 2.3.3. The random measure N is adapted if $N(\cdot, B)$ is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable for $B \subset E \times [0, t]$. N is σ -finite if there exists a sequence E_n increasing to E such that $E|N(\cdot, E_n \times [0, t])| < \infty$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 < t < \infty$.

Definition 2.3.4. The random measure N is called a martingale random measure if for fixed $A \in \Gamma_N := \{ A \in \mathcal{E} : E|N(A \times [0,t])| < \infty, \ \forall \ 0 < t < \infty \}$, the stochastic process $N(A \times [0,t])$ is martingale adapted to $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t \geq 0}$.

Let \mathcal{A} denote the collection of all \mathcal{F}_{t} -adapted processes whose sample paths are of finite variations on any finite intervals.

Definition 2.3.5. A σ -finite adapted random measure N is said to be in the class (QL) if there exists a unique σ -finite predictable random measure \widehat{N} such that $\widetilde{N} := N - \widehat{N}$ is a martingale random measure and for any $A \in \Gamma_N$, $\widehat{N}(A \times [0, t]) \in \mathcal{A}$ and is continuous in t. The random measure \widehat{N} is called the *compensator* of N.

Definition 2.3.6. Let v be a σ -finite measure on $\mathcal{B}(E \times \mathbb{R}_+)$. The *Poisson random measure* is a random measure $N: \Omega \times \mathcal{B}(E \times \mathbb{R}_+) \to \mathbb{R}$, such that:

- It is a independently scattered nonnegative integer-valued adapted random measure.
- 2. If for any $B \in \mathcal{B}(E \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ such that $v(B) < \infty$, $N(\cdot, B)$ is a Poisson random variable with mean v(B).

Definition 2.3.7. Let β be a σ -finite measure on (E, \mathcal{E}) (with $\beta(\{0\}) = 0$ and $\beta(B) < \infty$, if $B \in \mathcal{B}(E)$ and $0 \notin \overline{B}$, \overline{B} represents the closure of B). If we suppose $v(A \times [0, t]) = \beta(A)t$ for any $A \in \mathcal{E}$, then β is called the *characteristic measure*.

It is clear that any Poisson random measure N is in class (QL) with the compensator $\widehat{N}(A \times [0, t]) = \beta(A)t$ for any $A \in \mathcal{E}$. And

$$\widetilde{N}(\omega, A \times [0, t]) = N(\omega, A \times [0, t]) - \widehat{N}(\omega, A \times [0, t])$$

is called compensated Poisson random measure (CPRM, for short).

2.4 Stochastic integral with respect to CPRM

In this chapter, we will introduce the stochastic integral with respect to CPRM following Rüdiger [37]. Let $F_t := \mathcal{B}((E \setminus \{0\}) \times \mathbb{R}_+) \otimes \mathcal{F}_t$ be the product σ -algebra generated by the semiring $\mathcal{B}((E \setminus \{0\}) \times \mathbb{R}_+) \times \mathcal{F}_t$ of the product sets $B \times F$, $B \in \mathcal{B}((E \setminus \{0\}) \times \mathbb{R}_+)$, $F \in \mathcal{F}_t$. (A ring is a non-empty class of sets which is closed under the formation of unions and differences)

As before let H be a real separable Hilbert space, and let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and $\| \cdot \|_H$ represent the inner product and norm on H separately.

Let T > 0 and let

$$M^T(E/H) :=$$

$$\{f \colon (E \setminus \{0\}) \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \Omega \to H, \text{ such that } f \text{ is } F_T/\mathcal{B}(H) \text{-measurable} \}$$
 and $f(x, t, \omega)$ is \mathcal{F}_{t} -adapted $\forall x \in E \setminus \{0\}, \forall t \in (0, T]\}$

2.4.1 Stochastic integral for simple functions

Definition 2.4.1. A function f belongs to the set $\sum (E/H)$ of *simple functions*, if $f \in M^T(E/H)$, T > 0 and there exist $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$, such that

$$f(x,t,\omega) = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{l=1}^{m} 1_{A_{k,l}}(x) 1_{F_{k,l}}(\omega) 1_{(t_k,t_{k+1}]}(t) a_{k,l}$$

where $A_{k,l} \in \mathcal{B}(E)$ $(0 \notin \overline{A_{k,l}}), t_k \in (0,T], t_k < t_{k+1}, F_{k,l} \in \mathcal{F}_{t_k}, a_{k,l} \in H$. For all $k = 1, \ldots, n-1$ fixed, $A_{k,l_1} \times F_{k,l_1} \cap A_{k,l_2} \times F_{k,l_2} = \phi$, if $l_1 \neq l_2$.

Definition 2.4.2. For the simple function $f \in \sum (E/II)$, we define the *stochastic* integral with respect to CPRM by

$$\int_0^T \int_A f(x,t,\omega) \widetilde{N}(dx dt)(\omega) = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{l=1}^m a_{k,l} 1_{F_{k,l}}(\omega) \widetilde{N}(A_{k,l} \cap A \times (t_k, t_{k+1}] \cap (0,T])(\omega)$$
 for all $A \in \mathcal{B}(E \setminus \{0\}), T > 0$.

2.4.2 Stochastic integral for functions in H_2

To define the stochastic integral for more general functions than simple functions, we give some definitions first.

Definition 2.4.3. Let $L_2^H(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$ be the space of H-valued random variables, such that $E\|Y\|_H^2 = \int \|Y\|_H^2 dP < \infty$. We denote by $\|\cdot\|_2$ the norm given by $\|Y\|_2 = (E\|Y\|_H^2)^{1/2}$. Given $(Y_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}, Y\in L_2^H(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$, we write $\lim_{n\to\infty}^2 Y_n = Y$ if $\lim_{n\to\infty} \|Y_n - Y\|_2 = 0$.

Definition 2.4.4. Let $f: (E \setminus \{0\}) \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \Omega \to H$ be given. A sequence $\{f_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of $F_T/\mathcal{B}(H)$ -measurable functions is L^2 -approximating f on $A \times (0,T] \times \Omega$ w.r.t. $\beta \otimes Leb \otimes P$, if f_n is $\beta \otimes Leb \otimes P$ -a.s. converging to f, when $n \to \infty$, and

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_0^T\int_A E\|f_n(x,t,\omega)-f(x,t,\omega)\|_H^2\,\beta(dx)\,dt=0;$$

i.e., $||f_n - f||$ converges to zero in $L^2(A \times (0,T] \times \Omega, \beta \otimes Leb \otimes P)$, when $n \to \infty$.

Next, we define the class of functions on which we will define the stochastic integral.

$$\begin{split} H_2 := & \{ f(x,t,\omega) : (E \setminus \{\,0\,\}) \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \Omega \to H, \text{ such that } f \text{ is } F_T/\mathcal{B}(H)\text{-measurable} \\ & \text{and } f(x,t,\omega) \text{ is } \mathcal{F}_t\text{-measurable for } \forall x \in E \setminus \{\,0\,\} \text{ and } \forall t \in (0,T], \text{ also} \\ & E \int_0^T \! \int_E \|f(x,t,\omega)\|_H^2 \, \beta(dx) \, dt < \infty \, \}. \end{split}$$

Remark. Observe that if $f \in H_2$, then for each $t \in [0, T]$, $1_{[0,t]}f \in H_2$. When it's clear from the context, we write elements of H_2 as f(x, t).

Let $f \in \mathcal{H}_2$. Then there exists simple functions $\{f_k\} \in \mathcal{H}_2$, such that

$$E \int_0^t \int_E \|f_k(x, s, \omega) - f(x, s, \omega)\|_H^2 \, \beta(dx) \, ds \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty,$$

And the simple functions $\{f_k\}$ satisfy, for each $t \in [0, T]$

$$E\|I_{t}(\varphi_{k}) - I_{t}(\varphi_{j})\|_{H}^{2} = E \int_{0}^{t} \int_{E} \|f_{k}(x, s) - f_{j}(x, s)\|_{H}^{2} \beta(dx) ds$$

$$\to 0, \text{ as } k, j \to \infty.$$

(See Rüdiger [37])

Now for $f \in H_2$, we define the stochastic integral with respect to CPRM as,

$$I_t(f) = \int_0^t \int_E f(x, s) \, \widetilde{N}(dx \, ds) = \lim_{k \to \infty}^2 I_t(f_k).$$

The following results are known about the stochastic integral with respect to CPRM.

Theorem 2.4.1 (Rüdiger [37]). Let $I_t(f)$ be defined as above. Then we have

- 1. The sample paths of $I_t(f) = \int_0^t \int_E f(x,s) \, \widetilde{N}(dx \, ds)$ are cádlàg,
- 2. $I_t(f)$ is a mean 0 martingale with respect to \mathcal{F}_t .

Chapter 3

Existence and uniqueness of mild solutions to Semilinear SDE's and their properties

In this chapter, we will consider the following semilinear stochastic differential equation (SDE, for short) on [0, T].

$$dZ(t) = (AZ(t) + F(Z(t))) dt + \int_{E} B(v, Z(t)) \, \tilde{N}(dv \, dt), \ Z(0) = \varphi \in H.$$
 (3.1)

Here A is the generator of a C_0 -semigroup S(t) on H, satisfying $||S(t)|| \le e^{\alpha t}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. \widetilde{N} is a CPRM on $E \times \mathbb{R}_+$. F and B are, in general, nonlinear mappings, $F: H \to H$, $B: E \times H \to H$.

Remark. Partial differential equation can be written as Hilbert space valued linear equation.

In this chapter, we will prove the existence and uniqueness of the mild solution to

the system under some conditions on the coefficients, and we will also prove that the solution has homogeneity, Markov and Feller properties.

3.1 Mild and strong solutions of equation (3.1)

Let $\mathbb{T} = [0, T]$, we first introduce two types of solutions.

Definition 3.1.1. A stochastic process Z(t), $t \in \mathbb{T}$, is a mild solution of (3.1) if

- (i) Z(t) is adapted to \mathcal{F}_t ,
- (ii) Z(t) is measurable and $\int_0^T E \|Z(t)\|_H^2 dt < \infty$,
- (iii) $Z(t) = S(t)\varphi + \int_0^t S(t-s)F(Z(s)) ds + \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s)B(v,Z(s)) \widetilde{N}(dv ds)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, w.p. 1.

Definition 3.1.2. A stochastic process Z(t), $t \in \mathbb{T}$, is a strong solution of (3.1) if

- (i) Z(t) is adapted to \mathcal{F}_t ,
- (ii) Z(t) is cádlàg in t, w.p. 1,
- (iii) $Z(t) \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ almost everywhere on $\mathbb{T} \times \Omega$, and $\int_0^T \|AZ(t)\|_H dt < \infty$, w.p. 1,
- (iv) $Z(t) = \varphi + \int_0^t AZ(s) ds + \int_0^t F(Z(s)) ds + \int_0^t \int_E B(v, Z(s)) \widetilde{N}(dv ds)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, w.p. 1.

3.2 Mild solutions of semilinear SDE's with Lipschitz non-linearities

We impose the following assumptions on the coefficients of equation (3.1)

- (A1) F and B are jointly measurable,
- (A2) There exists a constant l, such that $\forall x \in H$,

$$||F(x)||_H^2 + \int_E ||B(v,x)||_H^2 \, \beta(dv) \le l(1+||x||_H^2),$$

(A3) For all $x, y \in H$, there exists a constant k, such that

$$||F(x) - F(y)||_H^2 + \int_E ||B(v, x) - B(v, y)||_H^2 \beta(dv) \le k||x - y||_H^2.$$

We prove the existence and uniqueness of a mild solution to stochastic equation (3.1) under the above conditions. We follow the ideas from the work of Gikhman and Skorokhod [13], and adapt them to our case.

Observe that for $\phi \in H_2$, $\int_0^t \int_E S(t-s)\phi(v,s) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds)$ exists because

$$\int_0^t \int_E \|S(t-s)\phi(v,s)\|_H^2 \, \beta(dv) \, ds < \infty.$$

The following lemma comes from Ichikawa [16].

Lemma 3.2.1. Let N be Poisson random measure and S(t) be a pseudo-contraction semigroup. Assume $\phi \in H_2$. If τ is a stopping time, then

$$E \sup_{0 \le t \le T \wedge \tau} \left\| \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s)\phi(v,s) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds) \right\|_H^2 \le b_1 E \int_0^{T \wedge \tau} \int_E \|\phi(v,t)\|_H^2 \, \beta(dv) \, dt.$$

The constant b_1 depends only on T and α as in the bound $||S(t)|| \le e^{\alpha t}$.

Proof. Let $M_s = \int_0^s \int_E \phi(v, r) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr)$ and $y_t = \int_0^t S(t - s) \, dM_s$. From Ichikawa [16], we know if $\alpha \leq 0$, then

$$E(\sup_{t \le \tau} \|y_t\|_H^2) \le (3 + \sqrt{10})^2 E\langle M \rangle_\tau.$$

Hence

$$E\left(\sup_{t\leq\tau}\left\|\int_0^t\int_E S(t-s)\phi(v,s)\,\widetilde{N}(dv\,ds)\right\|_H^2\right)$$

$$\leq (3+\sqrt{10})^2 E\int_0^\tau\int_E \|\phi(v,s)\|_H^2\,\beta(dv)\,ds.$$

If $\alpha > 0$, we use the results in Ichikawa [16] and get

$$E\left(\sup_{t\leq \tau}\|y_t\|_H^2\right)\leq e^{2\alpha\tau_\infty}\left(3+\sqrt{10}\right)^2E\langle M\rangle_\tau.$$

Here

$$\tau_{\infty} = \begin{cases} & \text{ess sup } \tau & \text{if it exists} \\ & & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Now if we use $T \wedge \tau$ in place of τ and notice that $(T \wedge \tau)_{\infty} \leq T$ and let $b_1 = e^{2|\alpha|T}(3+\sqrt{10})^2$, we get

$$E\left(\sup_{0\leq t\leq T\wedge\tau}\left\|\int_0^t\int_E S(t-s)\phi(v,s)\,\widetilde{N}(dv\,ds)\right\|_H^2\right)\leq b_1E\int_0^{T\wedge\tau}\int_E\|\phi(s,v)\|_H^2\,\beta(dv)\,ds.$$

Now for an adapted process $\xi(\cdot) \in D([0,T],H)$, satisfying $E \sup_{0 \le s \le T} \|\xi(s)\|_H^2$ < ∞ , we let

$$I(t,\xi(t)) = \int_0^t S(t-s)F(\xi(s)) ds + \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s)B(v,\xi(s)) \widetilde{N}(dv ds).$$

Remark. The above integral exists under (A1) and (A2).

Lemma 3.2.2. If F(x) and B(v,x) satisfy (A1) and (A2), S(t) is a pseudo-contraction semigroup, then for a stopping time τ ,

$$E\left(\sup_{0 \le s \le t \land \tau} \|I(s, \xi(s))\|_{H}^{2}\right) \le b_{2}\left(t + \int_{0}^{t} E \sup_{0 \le u \le s \land \tau} \|\xi(u)\|_{H}^{2} ds\right)$$

with the constant b_2 depending on α , T and l.

Proof. We note that

$$\sup_{0 \le s \le t \wedge \tau} \|I(s, \xi(s))\|_{H}^{2} \le 2 \sup_{0 \le s \le t \wedge \tau} \left(\left\| \int_{0}^{s} S(s - u) F(\xi(u)) \, du \right\|_{H}^{2} + \left\| \int_{0}^{s} \int_{E} S(s - u) B(v, \xi(u)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, du) \right\|_{H}^{2} \right).$$

There exists a bound for the expectation of the first term, using $||S(t)|| \le e^{\alpha t}$, the Schwartz inequality and (A2),

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t \wedge \tau} \left\| \int_{0}^{s} S(s - u) F(\xi(u)) du \right\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$\le E \sup_{0 \le s \le t \wedge \tau} \left\{ \int_{0}^{s} \| S(s - u) F(\xi(u)) \|_{H} du \right\}^{2}$$

$$\le E \left(\int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau} e^{\alpha t} \| F(\xi(u)) \|_{H} du \right)^{2}$$

$$\le e^{2\alpha t} E(t \wedge \tau) \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau} \| F(\xi(u)) \|_{H}^{2} du$$

$$\le e^{2\alpha t} t l E \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau} (1 + \| \xi(u) \|_{H}^{2}) du$$

$$\le e^{2\alpha t} t l \left(t + \int_{0}^{t} E \sup_{0 \le u \le s \wedge \tau} \| \xi(u) \|_{H}^{2} ds \right).$$

From Lemma 3.2.1 and (A2), for the second term,

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t \wedge \tau} \left\| \int_0^s \int_E S(s-u)B(v,\xi(u)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, du) \right\|_H^2$$

$$\le b_1 E \int_0^{t \wedge \tau} \int_E \|B(v,\xi(s))\|_H^2 \, \beta(dv) \, ds$$

$$\leq b_1 l E \int_0^{t \wedge \tau} (1 + \|\xi(s)\|_H^2) ds$$

$$\leq b_1 l \left(t + \int_0^t E \sup_{0 < u < s \wedge \tau} \|\xi(u)\|_H^2 ds \right).$$

Let $b_2 = 2e^{2|\alpha|T}Tl + 2e^{2|\alpha|T}(3+\sqrt{10})^2$. We complete the proof by combining the inequalities for both terms.

Lemma 3.2.3. Let conditions (A1) and (A3) be satisfied and S(t) be a pseudo-contraction semigroup. Then

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|I(s, \xi_1(s)) - I(s, \xi_2(s))\|_H^2 \le b_3 \int_0^t E \sup_{0 \le u \le s} \|\xi_1(u) - \xi_2(u)\|_H^2 ds$$

with the constant b_3 depending on α, T and k.

Proof. We begin with the following estimate.

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|I(s, \xi_1(s)) - I(s, \xi_2(s))\|_H^2$$

$$\leq 2E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \left(\left\| \int_0^s S(s - u)(F(\xi_1(u)) - F(\xi_2(u))) du \right\|_H^2 + \left\| \int_0^s \int_E S(s - u)[B(v, \xi_1(u)) - B(v, \xi_2(u))] \widetilde{N}(dv du) \right\|_H^2 \right).$$

As before,

$$\begin{split} E\sup_{0\leq s\leq t} \left\| \int_0^s S(s-u)(F(\xi_1(u)) - F(\xi_2(u))) \, du \right\|_H^2 \\ \leq & E\sup_{0\leq s\leq t} \left(\int_0^s \|S(s-u)\| \, \|F(\xi_1(u)) - F(\xi_2(u))\|_H \, du \right)^2 \\ \leq & e^{2\alpha t} t E\sup_{0\leq s\leq t} \int_0^s \|F(\xi_1(u)) - F(\xi_2(u))\|_H^2 \, du \\ \leq & k e^{2\alpha t} t E\sup_{0\leq s\leq t} \int_0^s \|\xi_1(u) - \xi_2(u)\|_H^2 \, du \\ \leq & k e^{2\alpha t} t \int_0^t E\sup_{0\leq u\leq s} \|\xi_1(u) - \xi_2(u)\|_H^2 \, ds. \end{split}$$

And,

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \left\| \int_0^s \int_E S(s-u) [B(v,\xi_1(u)) - B(v,\xi_2(u))] \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, du) \right\|_H^2$$

$$\le b_1 E \int_0^t \int_E \|B(v,\xi_1(s)) - B(v,\xi_2(s))\|_H^2 \, \beta(dv) \, ds$$

$$\le k b_1 \int_0^t E \sup_{0 \le u \le s} \|\xi_1(u) - \xi_2(u)\|_H^2 \, ds.$$

Let $b_3 = 2e^{2|\alpha|T}Tk + 2ke^{2|\alpha|T}(3+\sqrt{10})^2$. We complete the proof by combining the inequalities for both terms.

Remark. Lemma 3.2.2 and Lemma 3.2.3 follow from the arguments similar to the arguments for Brownian motion case by Gawarecki et al. [10].

Now we prove the existence and uniqueness of the mild solution.

Theorem 3.2.1. Let the coefficients F and B satisfy conditions (A1), (A2) and (A3), assume that S(t) is a pseudo-contraction semigroup. Then the stochastic equation (3.1) has a unique mild solution Z(t) satisfying

$$Z(t) = S(t)\varphi + \int_0^t S(t-s)F(Z(s)) ds + \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s)B(v,Z(s)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds)$$

in the space

$$\mathcal{H}_2 := \{ \xi(\cdot) \in D([0,T], H), \text{ such that } E \sup_{0 \le s \le T} \|\xi(s)\|_H^2 < \infty \}.$$

Proof. We follow Picard's method. Let I be defined as before. By Lemma 3.2.2, $I: \mathcal{H}_2 \to \mathcal{H}_2$. The solution can be approximated by the sequence $Z_0(t) = \varphi, \cdots, Z_{n+1}(t) = I(t, Z_n(t)), \quad n = 0, 1, \cdots$. Let $\mathcal{V}_n(t) = E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|Z_{n+1}(s) - Z_n(s)\|_H^2$. Then $\mathcal{V}_0(t) = E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|Z_1(s) - Z_0(s)\|_H^2 \le \mathcal{V}_0(T) \equiv V_0$, and using Lemma 3.2.3, we

obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{V}_1(t) &= E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|Z_2(s) - Z_1(s)\|_H^2 \\ &= E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|I(s, Z_1(s)) - I(s, Z_0(s))\|_H^2 \\ &\le b_3 \int_0^t E \sup_{0 \le u \le s} \|Z_1(u) - Z_0(u)\|_H^2 \, ds \le b_3 V_0 t. \end{aligned}$$

By induction, $V_n(t) \leq b_3 \int_0^t V_{n-1}(s) ds \leq \frac{V_0(b_3 t)^n}{n!}$. Next, similar to the proof of Gikhman and Skorokhod [11], we show that $\sup_{0 \leq t \leq T} \|Z_n(t) - Z(t)\|_H \to 0$, a.s. for some $Z \in \mathcal{H}_2$. If we let $\varepsilon_n = (V_0(b_3 T)^n/n!)^{1/3}$, then, using Chebyshev's inequality, we arrive at

$$P(\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|Z_{n+1}(t) - Z_n(t)\|_H > \varepsilon_n) \le \left(\frac{V_0(b_3 T)^n}{n!}\right) / \left(\frac{V_0(b_3 T)^n}{n!}\right)^{2/3} = \varepsilon_n.$$
 (3.2)

Because $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon_n < \infty$, the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|Z_{n+1}(t) - Z_n(t)\|_H$ converges a.s., showing that $Z_n(\cdot)$ converges to some $Z(\cdot)$ a.s.. By (3.2)

$$\sum_{n} P(\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|Z_{n+1}(t) - Z_n(t)\|_H > \varepsilon_n) < \infty.$$

By Borel-Cantelli lemma, we have $\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|Z_{n+1}(t) - Z_n(t)\|_H < \varepsilon_n$ a.s.. So we have $\|Z(t) - Z_n(t)\|_H \to 0$, a.s.. Because $Z_n(t)$ has the cádlàg property, the sample paths of Z(t) are cádlàg.

Moreover,

$$E \sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|Z(t) - Z_n(t)\|_H^2$$

$$= E \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|Z_{n+m}(t) - Z_n(t)\|_H^2$$

$$= E \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{0 \le t \le T} \left\| \sum_{k=n}^{n+m-1} (Z_{k+1}(t) - Z_k(t)) \right\|_H^2$$

$$\leq E \lim_{m \to \infty} \left(\sum_{k=n}^{n+m-1} \sup_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| Z_{k+1}(t) - Z_k(t) \|_H \right)^2$$

$$= \lim_{m \to \infty} E \left(\sum_{k=n}^{n+m-1} \sup_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| Z_{k+1}(t) - Z_k(t) \|_H k \cdot \frac{1}{k} \right)^2$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} E \sup_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| Z_{k+1}(t) - Z_k(t) \|_H^2 k^2 \left(\sum_{k=n}^{\infty} k^{-2} \right),$$

and hence the second series converges. The first series is bounded by observing

$$\sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \mathcal{V}_k(T) k^2 \le \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \frac{V_0(b_3 T)^k k^2}{k!} \to 0, \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

To justify that Z(t) is a mild solution to equation (3.1), we note that a.s. $F(Z_n(s)) \to F(Z(s))$ uniformly in s. Therefore

$$\int_0^t S(t-s)F(Z_n(s))\,ds \to \int_0^t S(t-s)F(Z(s))\,ds \text{ a.s.}.$$

Using the fact proved above, then

$$E \sup_{0 < t < T} ||Z(t) - Z_n(t)||_H^2 \to 0.$$

Thus we obtain

$$E \left\| \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s) [B(v,Z(s)) - B(v,Z_n(s))] \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds) \right\|_H^2$$

$$\leq b_1 E \int_0^t \int_E \|B(v,Z(s)) - B(v,Z_n(s))\|_H^2 \, \beta(dv) \, ds$$

$$\leq b_1 k T E \sup_{0 \leq t \leq T} \|Z(t) - Z_n(t)\|_H^2 \to 0, \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

This solution is unique. If Z(t), Z'(t) are two solutions to equation (3.1), then we define $V(t) = E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|Z(s) - Z'(s)\|_H^2$. By Lemma 3.2.3,

$$V(t) \le b_3 \int_0^t V(s) \, ds \le \dots \le E \sup_{0 \le s \le T} \|Z(s) - Z'(s)\|_H^2 \frac{(b_3 t)^n}{n!} \to 0,$$
 as $n \to \infty$, giving $V(t) = 0$.

Remark. We know that there exists for each $T < \infty$ an unique mild solution of (3.1). We can define Z(t) on $[0, +\infty)$, such that for any T, $E \sup_{0 \le s \le T} ||Z(s)||_H^2 < \infty$.

3.3 Homogeneity, Markov, and Feller properties of the mild solution

Notation. From now on, we will use $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ instead of Z(t) to represent the mild solution of (3.1) to emphasize that the solution depends on the initial value φ .

Lemma 3.3.1. The mild solution of (3.1) $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ is continuous in the initial value φ (w.r.t. the strong topology on H).

Proof. Let φ_1 and $\varphi_2 \in H$ be the initial values. Suppose that the two mild solutions are $Z^{\varphi_1}(t)$ and $Z^{\varphi_2}(t)$. Then we have

$$Z^{\varphi_1}(t) = S(t)\,\varphi_1 + \int_0^t S(t-s)F(Z^{\varphi_1}(s))\,ds + \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s)B(v,Z^{\varphi_1}(s))\,\widetilde{N}(dv\,ds),$$

and

$$Z^{\varphi_2}(t) = S(t)\,\varphi_2 + \int_0^t S(t-s)F(Z^{\varphi_2}(s))\,ds + \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s)B(v,Z^{\varphi_2}(s))\,\widetilde{N}(dv\,ds).$$

Thus

$$\begin{split} &Z^{\varphi_1}(t) - Z^{\varphi_2}(t) \\ = &S(t) \left(\varphi_1 - \varphi_2 \right) + \int_0^t S(t-s) F(Z^{\varphi_1}(s)) \, ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s) B(v, Z^{\varphi_1}(s)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds) \\ &- \Big(\int_0^t S(t-s) F(Z^{\varphi_2}(s)) \, ds + \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s) B(v, Z^{\varphi_2}(s)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds) \Big). \end{split}$$

From Lemma 3.2.3 we have

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|Z^{\varphi_1}(s) - Z^{\varphi_2}(s)\|_H^2$$

$$\le E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} (2\|S(s)(\varphi_1 - \varphi_2)\|_H^2 + 2\|I(s, Z^{\varphi_1}(s)) - I(s, Z^{\varphi_2}(s))\|_H^2)$$

$$\le 2e^{2\alpha t} \|\varphi_1 - \varphi_2\|_H^2 + 2b_3 \int_0^t E \sup_{0 \le u \le s} \|Z^{\varphi_1}(u) - Z^{\varphi_2}(u)\|_H^2 ds.$$

By Gronwall's inequality we have

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|Z^{\varphi_1}(s) - Z^{\varphi_2}(s)\|_H^2 \le 2e^{2\alpha t} \|\varphi_1 - \varphi_2\|_H^2 e^{2b_3 t} = 2e^{(2\alpha + 2b_3)t} \|\varphi_1 - \varphi_2\|_H^2.$$

So the solution is continuous in the initial value.

Theorem 3.3.1. The mild solution of (3.1) is homogeneous in t and it has the Markov property.

Proof. Fix s. Let us denote by $(Z^{s,\varphi}(t))_{t\geq s}$ the solution of

$$Z^{s,\varphi}(dt) = \left(AZ^{s,\varphi}(t) + F(Z^{s,\varphi}(t))\right)dt + \int_E B(v,Z^{s,\varphi}(t))\,\widetilde{N}(dv\,dt),\ Z^{s,\varphi}(s) = \varphi.$$

Following Theorem 3.2.1, it can be checked that such a solution exists and is unique up to stochastic equivalence. Let us remark that the compensated Poisson random measure is translation invariant in time; i.e., if h > 0, $\mathcal{L}(\tilde{N}(v, s + h) - \tilde{N}(v, s)) = \mathcal{L}\tilde{N}(v, h)$.

It follows that

$$Z^{s,\varphi}(s+h) = S(h)\varphi + \int_{s}^{s+h} S(s+h-u)F(Z^{s,\varphi}(u)) du$$
$$+ \int_{s}^{s+h} \int_{E} S(s+h-u)B(v, Z^{s,\varphi}(u)) \widetilde{N}(dv du)$$
$$= S(h)\varphi + \int_{0}^{h} S(h-u)F(Z^{s,\varphi}(s+u)) du$$

$$+ \int_0^h \int_E S(h-u)B(v, Z^{s,\varphi}(s+u)) \widetilde{\widetilde{N}}(dv du). \tag{3.3}$$

Here $\widetilde{\widetilde{N}}(v,u) = \widetilde{N}(v,s+u) - \widetilde{N}(v,s)$.

From Theorem 3.2.1, we have

$$Z^{0,\varphi}(h) = S(h)\varphi + \int_0^h S(h-u)F(Z^{0,\varphi}(u)) du$$
$$+ \int_0^h \int_E S(h-u)B(v, Z^{0,\varphi}(u)) \widetilde{N}(dv du). \tag{3.4}$$

As the solution of (3.3) and (3.4) are unique up to stochastic equivalent and $\widetilde{N}(dvds)$ and $\widetilde{\widetilde{N}}(dvds)$ are equally distributed, it follows that $\{Z^{0,\varphi}(h)\}_{h\geq 0}$ and $\{Z^{s,\varphi}(s+h)\}_{h\geq 0}$ are stochastic equivalent.

We have proved that $\{Z^{0,\varphi}(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ is cádlàg. Let $T\geq 0$. We denote by Q^{φ} the distribution induced by $\{Z^{0,\varphi}(t)\}_{t\in [0,T]}$ on the Skorokhod space D([0,T],H) and by E_{φ} the corresponding expectation. We also remark that the σ -algebra $\mathcal{F}_t^{\varphi}=\sigma\{Z^{0,\varphi}(s),s\leq t\}\subseteq \mathcal{F}_t$, where $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ denotes the natural filtration of the compensated Poisson random measure $\widetilde{N}(dvds)$ and $\sigma\{Z^{0,\varphi}(s),s\leq t\}$ is the σ -algebra generated by $\{Z^{0,\varphi}(s)\}_{s\leq t}$.

Let us consider now the solution $\{Z(r)\}_{r\in[t,T]}$ of

$$Z(r) = Z(t) + \int_t^r S(r-u)F(Z(u)) du + \int_t^r \int_E S(r-u)B(v,Z(u)) \widetilde{N}(dv du).$$

From Theorem 3.2.1, it follows that $\{Z(r)\}_{r\in[t,T]}$ is stochastic equivalent to $\{Z^{t,Z(t)}(r)\}_{r\in[t,T]}$. Let $H(z,t,r,\omega):=Z^{t,z}(r), r\in[t,T]$. We remark that $H(z,t,r,\omega)$ is independent of \mathcal{F}_t . Let γ be a bounded, real valued measurable function on H. Then we can write

$$E_{z}[\gamma(Z(t+h)) \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}] = E[\gamma(H(Z(t), t, t+h, \omega)) \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}]$$
(3.5)

and

$$E_{z(t)}[\gamma(Z(h))] = E[\gamma(H(z,0,h,\omega))]_{z=Z(t)}$$
(3.6)

where $E[\,\cdot\,]_{z=Z(t)}:=E[\,\cdot\mid Z(t)=z\,].$ We shall prove that

$$E[\gamma(H(Z(t),t,t+h,\omega)) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = E[\gamma(H(z,t,t+h,\omega))]_{z=Z(t)}.$$
 (3.7)

It then follows from (3.6) and the homogeneous property that

$$E[\gamma(H(Z(t), t, t+h, \omega)) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = E[\gamma(H(z, t, t+h, \omega))]_{z=Z(t)}$$
$$= E[\gamma(H(z, 0, h, \omega))]_{z=Z(t)}$$
$$= E_{Z(t)}[\gamma(Z(h))].$$

Then use (3.5), it follows $E_z[\gamma(Z(t+h)) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = E_{z(t)}[\gamma(Z(h))]$ and, since $\mathcal{F}_t^{Z(t)} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_t$, this gives $E_z[\gamma(Z(t+h)) \mid \mathcal{F}_t^{Z(t)}] = E_{z(t)}[\gamma(Z(h))]$.

Proof of (3.7): Put $g(z,\omega) = \gamma(H(z,t,t+h,\omega))$. Clearly $g(z,\cdot)$ is measurable in ω , and $z \to g(z,\omega)$ is continuous by the continuity with respect to the initial condition. Thus $g(z,\omega)$ is separately measurable, since H is separable. By a theorem of Mackey [26], we can find a function equal $dz \otimes dP$ a.e. to $g(z,\omega)$, which is jointly measurable. We again call it $g(z,\omega)$. Clearly g is bounded. We can approximate g pointwise boundedly by functions of the form $\sum_{k=1}^{m} \phi_k(z) \psi_k(\omega)$.

$$E[g(Z(t),\omega) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = \lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^m \phi_k(Z(t)) E(\psi_k(\omega) \mid \mathcal{F}_t)$$

$$= \lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^m E[\phi_k(z)\psi_k(\omega) \mid \mathcal{F}_t]_{z=Z(t)} = E[g(z,\omega)]_{z=Z(t)}.$$

where in the first inequality we used that $\phi_k(Z(t))$ is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable.

Definition 3.3.1. For a Markov process $\xi(t)$, defined on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}, P)$ with state space χ let $P(\eta, t, \Gamma) = P(\xi(t) \in \Gamma \mid \xi(0) = \eta)$ (transition probability function). We say that $P(\eta, t, \Gamma)$ has the *Feller* property if for any bounded continuous Borel-measurable function ϕ on χ , $(P_t\phi)(\eta) = \int_{\chi} \phi(\gamma) P(\eta, t, d\gamma)$ is continuous in (t, η) for $t > 0, \eta \in \chi$.

Theorem 3.3.2. The mild solution of (3.1) has Feller property.

Proof. Let $h \in C_b(H)$ (bounded continuous functions on H) and let $\varphi_n \to \varphi, \varphi_n, \varphi \in H$. Then we know $Z^{\varphi_n}(t) \to Z^{\varphi}(t)$ in probability as $n \to \infty$. Then $E[h(Z^{\varphi_n}(t))] \to E[h(Z^{\varphi}(t))]$ since otherwise there would exist $\varepsilon > 0$ and a subsequence, denoted by n, such that $||E[h(Z^{\varphi_n}(t))] - E[h(Z^{\varphi}(t))]||_{H} > \varepsilon$ and $Z^{\varphi_n}(t) \to Z^{\varphi}(t)$, a.s., which yields a contradiction.

Chapter 4

Approximating system

We shall show in this chapter that every mild solution can be approximated by a strong solution.

4.1 Sufficient conditions for a mild solution to be a strong solution

We start with a Fubini type theory.

Proposition 4.1.1. Let $\mathbb{T} = [0, T]$ and let $B : \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T} \times E \times \Omega \to H$ be measurable, and B(s, t, v) is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable for each s, and $\int_0^T \int_0^T \int_E E \|B(s, t, v)\|_H^2 \beta(dv) dt ds < \infty$. Then

$$\int_0^T \int_0^T \int_E B(s,t,v) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt) \, ds = \int_0^T \int_E \int_0^T B(s,t,v) \, ds \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt).$$

Proof. (Sketch) We first prove that for the B given above, there exists simple functions

 B_n having the form

$$B_n(s,t,x,\omega) = \sum_{j=1}^{p-1} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{l=1}^m 1_{A_{jkl}}(x) 1_{F_{jkl}}(\omega) 1_{(t_{jk},t_{jk+1}]}(t) 1_{(s_j,s_{j+1}]}(s) a_{jkl}. \tag{4.1}$$

Here $A_{jkl} \in \mathcal{B}(E/\{0\})$ $(0 \notin \overline{A_{jkl}}), t_{jk} \in (0,T], t_{jk} < t_{jk+1}, s_j \in (0,T], s_j < s_{j+1}, F_{jkl} \in \mathcal{F}_{t_{jk}}, a_{jkl} \in H$. For all $j \in 1, \ldots, p-1$ and $k \in 1, \ldots, n-1$ fixed, $A_{jkl_1} \times F_{jkl_1} \cap A_{jkl_2} \times F_{jkl_2} = \phi$, if $l_1 \neq l_2$. Also B_n L^2 -approximating to B w.r.t. $ds \otimes v \otimes P$. The proof follows almost exactly from Theorem 4.2 in Rüdiger and Ziglio [38]. Now for simple functions in (4.1), we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{E} B(s,t,v) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt) \, ds \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{p-1} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{l=1}^{m} (s_{j+1} - s_{j}) a_{jkl} 1_{F_{jkl}}(\omega) \widetilde{N}((t_{jk},t_{jk+1}] \cap (0,T] \times A_{jkl} \cap E) \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{E} \int_{0}^{T} B(s,t,v) \, ds \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt). \end{split}$$

Also by the inequality

$$E \left\| \int_{0}^{T} \int_{E} \int_{0}^{T} B(s, t, v) \, ds \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt) \right\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{E} E \left\| \int_{0}^{T} B(s, t, v) \, ds \right\|_{H}^{2} \beta(dv) \, dt$$

$$\leq T \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{E} E \|B(s, t, v)\|_{H}^{2} \, ds \, \beta(dv) \, dt,$$

we know as $n \to \infty$, w.p. 1, we have

$$\int_0^T \int_0^T \int_E B(s,t,v) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt) \, ds = \int_0^T \int_E \int_0^T B(s,t,v) \, ds \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt). \quad \Box$$

Proposition 4.1.2. Suppose that:

(a)
$$\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(A)$$
, $S(t-r)F(y) \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $S(t-r)B(v,y) \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, for each $y \in H, v \in E$ and $t > r$,

(b)
$$||AS(t-r)F(y)||_H \le g_1(t-r)(1+||y||_H), g_1 \in L_1(0,T),$$

(c)
$$\int_E ||AS(t-r)B(v,y)||_H^2 \beta(dv) \le g_2(t-r)(1+||y||_H^2), \ g_2 \in L_1(0,T).$$

Then a mild solution Z(t) is also a strong solution.

Proof. By the above conditions, we have

$$\int_0^T \int_0^t \|AS(t-r)F(Z(r))\|_H \, dr \, dt < \infty, \ w.p.1,$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{E} E \|AS(t-r)B(v,Z(r))\|_{H}^{2} \beta(dv) \, dr \, dt < \infty.$$

Thus by Fubini's theorem, we have

$$\int_0^t \int_0^s AS(s-r)F(Z(r)) dr ds$$

$$= \int_0^t \int_r^t AS(s-r)F(Z(r)) ds dr$$

$$= \int_0^t S(t-r)F(Z(r)) dr - \int_0^t F(Z(r)) dr.$$

By Proposition 4.1.1, we also have

$$\begin{split} &\int_0^t \int_0^s \int_E AS(s-r)B(v,Z(r)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr) \, ds \\ &= \int_0^t \int_E \int_r^t AS(s-r)B(v,Z(r)) \, ds \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr) \\ &= \int_0^t \int_E S(t-r)B(v,Z(r)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr) - \int_0^t \int_E B(v,Z(r)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr). \end{split}$$

Hence AZ(t) is integrable w.p. 1 and

$$\int_{0}^{t} AZ(s) \, ds = S(t)\varphi - \varphi + \int_{0}^{t} S(t-r)F(Z(r)) \, dr - \int_{0}^{t} F(Z(r)) \, dr + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{E} S(t-r)B(v,Z(r)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr) - \int_{0}^{t} \int_{E} B(v,Z(r)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr)$$

$$=Z(t)-\varphi-\int_0^t F(Z(r))\,dr-\int_0^t \int_E B(v,Z(r))\,\widetilde{N}(dv\,dr).$$

Thus

$$Z(t) = \varphi + \int_0^t AZ(s) \, ds + \int_0^t F(Z(s)) \, ds + \int_0^t \int_E B(v, Z(s)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds).$$

So Z(t) is a strong solution.

4.2 Approximation part

We now study the approximating system, which has the form

$$dZ(t) = AZ(t) dt + R(n)F(Z(t)) dt + \int_{E} R(n)B(v, Z(t)) \widetilde{N}(dv dt), \ Z(0) = R(n)\varphi$$

$$(4.2)$$

where $n \in \rho(A)$, the resolvent set of A ($\rho(A) := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : \lambda - A : D(A) \to H \text{ is bijective}\}$), R(n) = nR(n, A), and $R(n, A) = \int_0^\infty e^{-nt} S(t) dt$. We begin with a theorem on the mild solution of the stochastic equation.

Theorem 4.2.1. The mild solution of (3.1) is in $C(0,T;L_2^H(\Omega,\mathcal{F},P))$.

Proof. Let Z(t) be the solution of (3.1). We know that

$$Z(s+t) = S(s+t)\varphi + \int_0^{s+t} S(s+t-u)F(Z(u)) du$$
$$+ \int_0^{s+t} \int_E S(s+t-u)B(v,Z(u)) \widetilde{N}(dv du),$$

and

$$Z(s) = S(s)\varphi + \int_0^s S(s-u)F(Z(u)) du + \int_0^s \int_E S(s-u)B(v,Z(u)) \widetilde{N}(dv du).$$

So

$$Z(s+t) - Z(s) = S(s+t)\varphi - S(s)\varphi + \int_{s}^{s+t} S(s+t-u)F(Z(u)) du$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{s} (S(s+t-u) - S(s-u))F(Z(u)) du$$

$$+ \int_{s}^{s+t} \int_{E} S(s+t-u)B(v,Z(u)) \widetilde{N}(dv du)$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{s} \int_{E} (S(s+t-u) - S(s-u))B(v,Z(u)) \widetilde{N}(dv du).$$

We have

$$E||Z(s+t) - Z(s)||_H^2 \le 5(EI_1 + EI_2 + EI_3 + EI_4 + EI_5),$$

where

$$EI_{1} = E \|S(s+t)\varphi - S(s)\varphi\|_{H}^{2} \to 0, \text{ as } t \to 0,$$

$$EI_{2} = E \|\int_{s}^{s+t} S(s+t-u)F(Z(u)) du\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$\leq tE \int_{s}^{s+t} \|S(s+t-u)F(Z(u))\|_{H}^{2} du$$

$$\leq tM^{2}E \int_{s}^{s+t} \|F(Z(u))\|_{H}^{2} du \to 0, \text{ as } t \to 0,$$

$$EI_{3} = E \left\| \int_{0}^{s} (S(s+t-u) - S(s-u))F(Z(u)) du \right\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$\leq sE \int_{0}^{s} \|(S(s+t-u) - S(s-u))F(Z(u))\|_{H}^{2} du \to 0, \text{ as } t \to 0,$$

$$EI_{4} = E \left\| \int_{s}^{s+t} \int_{E} S(s+t-u)B(v,Z(u)) \widetilde{N}(dv du) \right\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$\leq M^{2}E \int_{s}^{s+t} \int_{E} \|B(v,Z(u))\|_{H}^{2} \beta(dv) du \to 0, \text{ as } t \to 0,$$

$$EI_{5} = E \left\| \int_{0}^{s} \int_{E} (S(s+t-u) - S(s-u))B(v,Z(u)) \widetilde{N}(dv du) \right\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$\leq M^{2}E \int_{0}^{s} \int_{E} \|(S(t) - I)B(v,Z(u))\|_{H}^{2} \beta(dv) du \to 0, \text{ as } t \to 0.$$

By the fact that $||S(t)|| \le M$, for $\forall t \in [0,T]$, $||S(s+t)x - S(s)x||_H \to 0$ as $t \to 0$, for $\forall x \in H$, and Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem. So we have

$$E||Z(s+t) - Z(s)||_H^2 \to 0$$
, as $t \to 0$.

Also by Theorem 3.2.1, we know the mild solution of (3.1) is in $C(0,T;L_2^H(\Omega,\mathcal{F},P))$.

The following is the main result of this chapter, which generalizes Ichikawa [17].

Theorem 4.2.2. The stochastic differential equation (4.2) has a unique strong solution Z(t,n) which lies in $C(0,T;L_2^H(\Omega,\mathcal{F},P))$ for all T and Z(t,n) converges to the mild solution of the stochastic equation (3.1) in $C(0,T;L_2^H(\Omega,\mathcal{F},P))$ as $n \to \infty$ for all T.

Proof. We know AR(n) is a bounded operator and suppose that $|AR(n)| \leq M_1$. The first part is an immediate consequence of the existence of a mild solution and Proposition 4.1.2. Observe, by the growth condition and $|S(t)| \leq e^{\alpha t}$,

$$||AS(t-r)R(n)F(y)||_H \le e^{\alpha(t-r)}M_1\sqrt{l}(1+||y||_H),$$

and similarly,

$$\int_{E} \|AS(t-r)R(n)B(v,y)\|_{H}^{2} \beta(dv) \le e^{2\alpha(t-r)} M_{1}^{2} l(1+\|y\|_{H}^{2}).$$

To prove the second part, we consider

$$Z(t) - Z(t,n) = S(t)[\varphi - R(n)\varphi] + \int_0^t S(t-r)[F(Z(r)) - R(n)F(Z(r,n))] dr$$
$$+ \int_0^t \int_E S(t-r)[B(v,Z(r)) - R(n)B(v,Z(r,n))] \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr)$$

$$\begin{split} &= \int_0^t S(t-r)R(n)[F(Z(r)) - F(Z(r,n))] \, dr \\ &+ \int_0^t \int_E S(t-r)R(n)[B(v,Z(r)) - B(v,Z(r,n))] \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr) \\ &+ \left\{ S(t)[\varphi - R(n)\varphi] + \int_0^t S(t-r)[I-R(n)]F(Z(r)) \, dr + \right. \\ &+ \left. \int_0^t \int_E S(t-r)[I-R(n)]B(v,Z(r)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr) \right\}. \end{split}$$

We have,

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|Z(s) - Z(s,n)\|_H^2 \le 3E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} [I_1 + I_2 + I_3],$$

where

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} I_1 = E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \left\| \int_0^s S(s-r)R(n)[F(Z(r)) - F(Z(r,n))] dr \right\|_H^2$$

$$\leq 4ke^{2\alpha t}t \int_0^t E \sup_{0 \le r \le s} \|Z(r) - Z(r,n)\|_H^2 ds, \text{ (by Lemma 3.2.3)}$$

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} I_2 = E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \left\| \int_0^s \int_E S(s-r)R(n)[B(v,Z(r)) - B(v,Z(r,n))] \widetilde{N}(dv dr) \right\|_H^2$$

$$\leq 4kb_1 \int_0^t E \sup_{0 \le r \le s} \|Z(r) - Z(r,n)\|_H^2 ds, \text{ (by Lemma 3.2.3)}$$

and

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} I_3 = E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \left\| S(s) [\varphi - R(n)\varphi] + \int_0^s S(s-r) [I - R(n)] F(Z(r)) dr + \int_0^s \int_E S(s-r) [I - R(n)] B(v, Z(r)) \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr) \right\|_H^2.$$

$$\le 3E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} (I_{31} + I_{32} + I_{33}).$$

We now estimate each term in I_3 , because $|R(n) - I| \to 0$, as $n \to \infty$,

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} I_{31} = E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} ||S(s)[\varphi - R(n)\varphi]||_H^2 \le |R(n) - I|^2 e^{\alpha t} ||\varphi||_H^2 \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} I_{32}$$

$$= E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \left\| \int_{0}^{s} S(s-r)[I-R(n)]F(Z(r)) dr \right\|_{H}^{2} \text{ (by Lemma 3.2.2)}$$

$$\leq |R(n)-I|^{2} e^{2\alpha t} t l \left(t + \int_{0}^{t} E \|Z(r)\|_{H}^{2} dr\right) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} I_{33}$$

$$= E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \left\| \int_{0}^{s} \int_{E} S(t-r)[I-R(n)]B(v,Z(r)) \widetilde{N}(dv dr) \right\|_{H}^{2} \text{ (by Lemma 3.2.2)}$$

$$\leq |R(n)-I|^{2} b_{1} l \left(t + \int_{0}^{t} E \|Z(r)\|_{H}^{2} dr\right) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Thus we get

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|Z(s) - Z(s,n)\|_H^2 \le c_4 \int_0^t E \sup_{0 \le r \le s} \|Z(r) - Z(r,n)\|_H^2 dr + |R(n) - I|^2 c_5.$$

Here c_4 and c_5 are positive constants.

By Gronwall's inequality, we have

$$E \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|Z(s) - Z(s, n)\|_H^2 \le |R(n) - I|^2 c_5 e^{c_4 t}.$$

So

$$0 \le \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{0 \le s \le T} E \|Z(s) - Z(s, n)\|_{H}^{2} \le \lim_{n \to \infty} E \sup_{0 \le s \le T} \|Z(s) - Z(s, n)\|_{H}^{2} = 0. \quad \Box$$

Chapter 5

Stability properties of the mild

solution

5.1 Ito formula

Let $C^2_S(H)$ denote the space of all real-valued functions ψ on H with properties:

- (i) $\psi(x)$ is twice (Fréchet) differentiable,
- (ii) $\psi'(x) \colon H \to H$ is uniformly continuous on bounded set,
- (iii) $\psi''(x)$: $H \to L(H)$ is uniformly continuous in strong operator topology on bounded set.

By $C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ denote the space of all functions in $C_S^2(H)$ with properties:

- (i) There exists m_1 , such that $\|\psi'(x)\|_H \le m_1 \|x\|_H$, for $\forall x \in H$,
- (ii) ψ'' are independent of x.

We recall Ito formula from Rüdiger and Ziglio [38].

Theorem 5.1.1. If $\psi(t,x)$ is once continuously differentiable in t, $\psi(t,\cdot) \in C_S^2(H)$ for any given t, also the second Fréchet derivatives ψ_{tt} , ψ_{tx} , ψ_{xt} exist and are uniformly bounded on on $[0,t] \times B(0,R)$ (centered ball of radius R), for all $R \geq 0$. Let $\{Z^{\varphi}(t), t \geq 0\}$ be the strong solution of (3.1), then

$$\begin{split} \psi(t,Z^{\varphi}(t)) = & \psi(0,\varphi) + \int_{0}^{t} \psi_{t}(s,Z^{\varphi}(s)) \, ds \\ & + \int_{0}^{t} \langle \psi_{x}(s,Z^{\varphi}(s)), AZ^{\varphi}(s) + F(Z^{\varphi}(s)) \rangle \, ds \\ & + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{E} \left[\psi(s,Z^{\varphi}(s) + B(v,Z^{\varphi}(s))) \right. \\ & - \psi(s,Z^{\varphi}(s)) - \langle \psi_{x}(s,Z^{\varphi}(s)), B(v,Z^{\varphi}(s)) \rangle \right] \beta(dv) \, ds \\ & + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{E} \left[\psi(s,Z^{\varphi}(s-) + B(v,Z^{\varphi}(s))) - \psi(s,Z^{\varphi}(s-)) \right] \tilde{N}(dv \, ds). \end{split}$$

Here ψ_t and ψ_x are Fréchet derivatives with respect to t and x respectively.

We have another form of Ito formula if ψ is independent of t.

Theorem 5.1.2. Suppose $\psi \in C_S^2(H)$ and $\{Z^{\varphi}(t), t \geq 0\}$ is a strong solution of (3.1). Then

$$\psi(Z^{\varphi}(t)) = \psi(\varphi) + \int_0^t \mathcal{L}\psi(Z^{\varphi}(s)) \, ds$$
$$+ \int_0^t \int_E \{ \psi(Z^{\varphi}(s-) + B(v, Z^{\varphi}(s))) - \psi(Z^{\varphi}(s-)) \} \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}\psi(z) = \langle \psi'(z), Az + F(z) \rangle + \int_{E} [\psi(z + B(v, z)) - \psi(z) - \langle \psi'(z), B(v, z) \rangle] \beta(dv)$$

is the infinitesimal generator of the Markov process given by the solution of (3.1).

Since Ito formula is only applicable to the strong solution, we will use approximating method to study the stability properties of the mild solution to stochastic equation (3.1). We recall the approximating systems here for convenience.

$$\begin{cases} dZ(t) = \{ AZ(t) + R(n)F(Z(t)) \} dt + \int_{E} R(n)B(v, Z(t)) \widetilde{N}(dv dt) \\ Z(0) = R(n)\varphi \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

where $n \in \rho(A)$, the resolvent set of A, and R(n) = nR(n, A). The infinitesimal generator \mathcal{L}_n corresponding to this equation is

$$\mathcal{L}_n \psi(z) = \langle \psi'(z), Az + R(n)F(z) \rangle$$

$$+ \int_E [\psi(z + R(n)B(v, z)) - \psi(z) - \langle \psi'(z), R(n)B(v, z) \rangle] \beta(dv).$$

5.2 Exponential stability in the m.s.s.

Following Khasminski and Mandrekar [22], we define stochastic stability first.

Definition 5.2.1. Let $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ be the mild solution of (3.1), we say that it is exponentially stable in the m.s.s. if there exist positive constants c, θ , such that

$$E\|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_{H}^{2} \le ce^{-\theta t}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2}, \text{ for all } \varphi \in \mathbf{H} \text{ and } t > 0.$$
 (5.2)

The following gives a sufficient condition for exponential stability in m.s.s..

Theorem 5.2.1. The mild solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of (3.1) is exponentially stable in the m.s.s. if there exists a function $\psi: H \to R$ and $\psi \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ satisfying the following conditions:

$$c_1 \|x\|_H^2 \le \psi(x) \le c_3 \|x\|_H^2 \tag{5.3}$$

$$\mathcal{L}\psi(x) \le -c_2\psi(x) \tag{5.4}$$

for $\forall x \in H$, where c_1, c_2, c_3 are positive constants.

Proof. Apply Ito formula to $e^{c_2t}\psi(x)$ and $Z_n^{\varphi}(t)$ and take expectation, where $Z_n^{\varphi}(t)$ is the strong solution of (5.1). Then we have

$$e^{c_2 t} E \psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(t)) - \psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(0)) = E \int_0^t e^{c_2 s} (c_2 + \mathcal{L}_n) \psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(s)) ds.$$

Here

$$\mathcal{L}_{n}\psi(x) = \langle \psi'(x), Ax + R(n)F(x) \rangle$$

$$+ \int_{E} [\psi(x + R(n)B(v, x)) - \psi(x) - \langle \psi'(x), R(n)B(v, x) \rangle] \beta(dv)$$

$$\mathcal{L}\psi(x) = \langle \psi'(x), Ax + F(x) \rangle$$

$$+ \int_{E} [\psi(x + B(v, x)) - \psi(x) - \langle \psi'(x), B(v, x) \rangle] \beta(dv).$$

By (5.4),

$$c_{2}\psi(x) + \mathcal{L}_{n}\psi(x) \leq -\mathcal{L}\psi(x) + \mathcal{L}_{n}\psi(x)$$

$$= \langle \psi'(x), (R(n) - I)F(x) \rangle$$

$$+ \int_{E} \left[\frac{\left[\psi(x + R(n)B(v, x)) - \psi(x) - \langle \psi'(x), R(n)B(v, x) \rangle \right]}{-\left[\psi(x + B(v, x)) - \psi(x) - \langle \psi'(x), B(v, x) \rangle \right]} \right] \beta(dv).$$
(5.5)

So we have

$$e^{c_2 t} E_{\psi}(Z_n^{\varphi}(t)) - \psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(0)) \le E \int_0^t e^{c_2 s} (I_1(Z_n^{\varphi}(s)) + I_2(Z_n^{\varphi}(s))) ds,$$
 (5.6)

where

$$I_1(h) = \langle \psi'(h), (R(n) - I)F(h) \rangle,$$

$$I_2(h) = \int_E \left[\begin{array}{c} \left[\psi(h + R(n)B(v,h)) - \psi(h) - \langle \psi'(h), R(n)B(v,h) \rangle \right] \\ - \left[\psi(h + B(v,h)) - \psi(h) - \langle \psi'(h), B(v,h) \rangle \right] \end{array} \right] \beta(dv).$$

Now, we will prove that the right hand side of (5.6) \rightarrow 0, as $n \rightarrow \infty$.

First the integral in (5.5) makes sense, because by Theorem 2.1.1, there exists a bounded bilinear form R_2 , $|R_2| \leq M'$ (a positive constant), such that the integrand satisfies

$$|\psi(x + R(n)B(v, x)) - \psi(x) - \langle \psi'(x), R(n)B(v, x) \rangle$$

$$- [\psi(x + B(v, x)) - \psi(x) - \langle \psi'(x), B(v, x) \rangle]|$$

$$= |R_2(R(n)B(v, x)) - R_2(B(v, x))|$$

$$\leq |R_2(R(n)B(v, x))| + |R_2(B(v, x))|$$

$$\leq M' ||R(n)B(v, x)||_H^2 + M' ||B(v, x)||_H^2$$

$$\leq M'' ||B(v, x)||_H^2.$$

Here M'' is a positive constant. So the integration makes sense.

We know that $\lim_{n\to\infty}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}E\|Z^{\varphi}(t)-Z_n^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2=0$ by Theorem 4.2.2 and $\|Z_n^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2\leq 2\|Z_n^{\varphi}(t)-Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2+2\|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2$, we have $\sup_n\int_0^TE\|Z_n^{\varphi}(s)\|_H^2\,ds<\infty$. By the Schwartz inequality, we get $\sup_n\int_0^TE\|Z_n^{\varphi}(s)\|_H\,ds<\infty$. So $\{\|Z_n^{\varphi}(s)\|, n=1,2,\dots\}$ is uniformly integrable on $\Omega\times[0,T]$ with respect to the measure $P\times Leb$. Now we prove the right hand side of $(5.6)\to 0$, as $n\to\infty$.

$$\begin{split} &\left| E \int_0^t e^{C_2 s} I_1(Z_n^{\varphi}(s)) \, ds \right| \\ &= \left| E \int_0^t e^{C_2 s} \langle \psi'(Z_n^{\varphi}(s)), (R(n) - I) F(Z_n^{\varphi}(s)) \rangle \, ds \right| \\ &\leq E \int_0^t \left| e^{C_2 s} \langle \psi'(Z_n^{\varphi}(s)), (R(n) - I) F(Z_n^{\varphi}(s)) \rangle \right| \, ds \end{split}$$

$$\leq E \int_{0}^{t} e^{c_{2}s} \|\psi'(Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s))\|_{H} |R(n) - I| \|F(Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s))\|_{H} ds$$

$$\leq |R(n) - I| E \int_{0}^{t} e^{c_{2}cs} m_{1} \|Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)\|_{H} \sqrt{l} (1 + \|Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)\|_{H}) ds$$

$$\leq M_{3} |R(n) - I| (M_{3} \text{ is a positive constant})$$

$$\to 0, \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

By letting

$$I_n(x) = \psi(x + R(n)B(v, x)) - \psi(x) - \langle \psi'(x), R(n)B(v, x) \rangle$$
$$I(x) = \psi(x + B(v, x)) - \psi(x) - \langle \psi'(x), B(v, x) \rangle,$$

one has

$$\begin{split} & \left| E \int_0^t e^{C_2 s} I_2(Z_n^{\varphi}(s)) \, ds \right| \\ & \leq E \int_0^t \int_E e^{C_2 s} |I_n(Z_n^{\varphi}(s)) - I(Z_n^{\varphi}(s))| \, \beta(dv) \, ds \\ & = E \int_0^t \int_E e^{C_2 s} |R_2(R(n)B(v, Z_n^{\varphi}(s))) - R_2(B(v, Z_n^{\varphi}(s)))| \, \beta(dv) \, ds. \end{split}$$

Here R_2 is a bounded bilinear form by Theorem 2.1.1. By the result in Yosida [45], there exists bounded linear operator $C: H \to H$, such that

$$R_2(R(n)B(v,Z_n^{\varphi}(s))) = \langle CR(n)B(v,Z_n^{\varphi}(s)), R(n)B(v,Z_n^{\varphi}(s)) \rangle,$$

and

$$R_2(B(v, Z_n^{\varphi}(s))) = \langle CB(v, Z_n^{\varphi}(s)), B(v, Z_n^{\varphi}(s)) \rangle.$$

For simplicity, let

$$Q(x) = E \int_0^t \int_E e^{C_2 S}(x) \, \beta(dv) \, ds.$$

We have

$$\begin{split} & \left| E \int_{0}^{t} e^{C_{2}S} I_{2}(Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)) \, ds \right| \\ \leq Q \left(\left| \begin{array}{c} \langle CR(n)B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)),R(n)B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)) \rangle \\ -\langle CB(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)),B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)) \rangle \end{array} \right| \right) \\ = Q \left(\left| \begin{array}{c} \langle C(R(n)-I)B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)),R(n)B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)) \rangle \\ -\langle CB(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)),(R(n)-I)B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)) \rangle \end{array} \right| \right) \\ \leq Q \left(\left| \begin{array}{c} |C||R(n)-I|||B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s))||_{H}|R(n)|||B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s))||_{H} \\ +|C|||B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s))||_{H}|R(n)-I|||B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s))||_{H} \end{array} \right) \\ \leq E \int_{0}^{t} \int_{E} e^{C_{2}S} (m_{2}|R(n)-I|2||B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s))||_{H}^{2} \\ +m_{2}|R(n)-I||B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s))||_{H}^{2}) \beta(dv) \, ds \\ \leq |R(n)-I|E \int_{0}^{t} \int_{E} 3m_{2}e^{C_{2}S}||B(v,Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s))||_{H}^{2} \beta(dv) \, ds \\ \leq |R(n)-I|E \int_{0}^{t} 3m_{2}e^{C_{2}S}(1+||Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s)||_{H}^{2}) \, ds \\ \leq M_{4}|R(n)-I|, \end{split}$$

with M_4 a positive constant. Thus we know the right hand side of (5.6) \rightarrow 0, as $n \rightarrow \infty$. By the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, we have

$$e^{c_2 t} E \psi(Z^{\varphi}(t)) \le \psi(\varphi).$$

By condition (5.4), we have

$$c_1 E \|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2 < c_3 \|\varphi\|_H^2 e^{-c_2 t}$$
.

So

$$E\|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_{H}^{2} \le \frac{c_{3}}{c_{1}}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2}e^{-c_{2}t}.$$

The function $\psi(x) \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ and satisfy the conditions (5.3) and (5.4) in the above theorem is a Lyapunov function. Now we want to construct a Lyapunov function if the solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of (3.1) is exponentially stable in the m.s.s..

First, let us consider the following linear case. Suppose F=0 and $B=B_0$ is linear. Then equation (3.1) has the form

$$\begin{cases} dZ(t) = AZ(t) dt + \int_{E} B_{0}(v)Z(t) \widetilde{N}(dv dt) \\ Z(0) = \varphi. \end{cases}$$
(5.7)

We assume $\int_E ||B_0(v)y||_H^2 \beta(dv) \le d||y||_H^2$ and the solution of this equation is $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$. The infinitesimal generator \mathcal{L}_0 corresponding to this equation is

$$\mathcal{L}_0\psi(z) = \langle \psi'(z), Az \rangle + \int_E [\psi(z + B_0(v)z) - \psi(z) - \langle \psi'(z), B_0(v)z \rangle] \beta(dv).$$

Theorem 5.2.2. If the solution $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ of equation (5.7) is exponentially stable in the m.s.s., then there exists a function $\psi_0 \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ satisfying (5.3) and (5.4) with \mathcal{L} replaced by \mathcal{L}_0 .

Proof. Let

$$\psi_0(\varphi) = \int_0^\infty E \|Z_0^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2 dt + w \|\varphi\|_H^2, \tag{5.8}$$

where w is a constant to be determined later. Since $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ is exponentially stable in the m.s.s., $\int_0^{\infty} E \|Z_0^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2 dt$ is well defined and there exists a symmetric and nonnegative operator $R \in L(H)$ (Prato and Zabczyk [6]), such that $\phi(\varphi) := \int_0^{\infty} E \|Z_0^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2 dt = \langle R\varphi, \varphi \rangle$. Hence

$$\psi_0(\varphi) = \langle R\varphi, \varphi \rangle + w \|\varphi\|_H^2. \tag{5.9}$$

It is obvious that $\psi_0 \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ and $w\|\varphi\|_H^2 \le \psi_0(\varphi) \le (|R| + w)\|\varphi\|_H^2$. This proves ψ_0 satisfies (5.3). To prove it also satisfies (5.4) with \mathcal{L} replaced by \mathcal{L}_0 , we note that

A is the infinitesimal generator of a C_0 -semigroup S(t) satisfying $||S(t)|| \le e^{\alpha t}$. There exists a constant λ (without loss of generality, we assume it is positive) such that $\langle z, Az \rangle \le \lambda ||z||_H^2$ (Ichikawa [17]). Hence we have

$$\mathcal{L}_0 \|z\|_H^2 = 2\langle z, Az \rangle + \int_E \|B_0(v)z\|_H^2 \,\beta(dv) \le (2\lambda + d)\|z\|_H^2. \tag{5.10}$$

Also,

$$\mathcal{L}_{0}\phi(\varphi) = \frac{d}{dr} (E\phi(Z_{0}^{\varphi}(r)))|_{r=0} = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{E\phi(Z_{0}^{\varphi}(r)) - \phi(\varphi)}{r}$$
$$= \lim_{r \to 0} -\frac{1}{r} \int_{0}^{r} E \|Z_{0}^{\varphi}(s)\|_{H}^{2} ds = -\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2}.$$

Therefore

$$\mathcal{L}_{0}\psi_{0}(z) = \mathcal{L}_{0}\langle Rz, z \rangle + w\mathcal{L}_{0} \|z\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$\leq -\|z\|_{H}^{2} + w(2\lambda + d)\|z\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$= \{-1 + w(2\lambda + d)\} \|z\|_{H}^{2}.$$
(5.11)

Therefore, if w is small enough, (5.4) holds with \mathcal{L} replaced by \mathcal{L}_0 . This proves the theorem.

For the nonlinear equation (3.1), to assume zero is a solution, we need to assume F(0) = 0 and B(v, 0) = 0. If the solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ is exponentially stable in the m.s.s, we can still construct a Lyapunov function as (5.8),

$$\psi(\varphi) = \int_0^\infty E \|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2 dt + w \|\varphi\|_H^2.$$

But it may not be in $C_b^{2,loc}(H)$. If we assume it is in $C_b^{2,loc}(H)$, we claim that it satisfies (5.3) and (5.4). Now we prove this claim. Since $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ is exponentially stable in the

m.s.s, we assume it satisfies (5.2). Hence

$$\int_0^\infty E \|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2 dt \le \frac{c}{\theta} \|\varphi\|_H^2$$

for all $\varphi \in H$. Therefore, $w\|\varphi\|_H^2 \leq \psi(\varphi) \leq (\frac{c}{\theta} + w)\|\varphi\|_H^2$. This proves (5.3). To prove (5.4), let $\phi(\varphi) = \int_0^\infty E\|Z^\varphi(t)\|_H^2 dt$. Observe that

$$E\phi(Z^{\varphi}(r)) = E \int_0^{\infty} E(\|Z^{Z^{\varphi}(r)}(s)\|_H^2 \mid Z^{\varphi}(r)) ds.$$

But by the Markov property of the solution of (3.1), this equals

$$\int_0^\infty E\left[E\left(\|Z^{Z^{\varphi}(r)}(s)\|_H^2\mid \mathcal{F}_r^{\varphi}\right)\right]\,ds,$$

where $\mathcal{F}_r^{\varphi} = \sigma\{Z^{\varphi}(t), t \leq r\}$. The uniqueness of the solution implies

$$E(\|Z^{\varphi}(r)(s)\|_{H}^{2} \mid \mathcal{F}_{r}^{\varphi}) = E(\|Z^{\varphi}(s+r)\|_{H}^{2} \mid \mathcal{F}_{r}^{\varphi}).$$

Hence

$$E\phi(Z^{\varphi}(r)) = \int_{0}^{\infty} E\|Z^{\varphi}(r+s)\|_{H}^{2} ds = \int_{r}^{\infty} E\|Z^{\varphi}(s)\|_{H}^{2} ds.$$
 (5.12)

By the continuity of $t \to E ||Z^{\varphi}(t)||_H^2$, we get

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}\phi(\varphi) &= \frac{d}{dr} (E\phi(Z^{\varphi}(r)))|_{r=0} = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{E\phi(Z^{\varphi}(r)) - \phi(\varphi)}{r} \\ &= \lim_{r \to 0} -\frac{1}{r} \int_0^r E\|Z^{\varphi}(s)\|_H^2 \, ds = -\|\varphi\|_H^2. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\mathcal{L}\psi(\varphi) = \mathcal{L}\phi(\varphi) + w\mathcal{L}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$= -\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + w(2\langle\varphi, A\varphi + F(\varphi)\rangle + \int_{E} \|B(v, \varphi)\|_{H}^{2} \beta(dv))$$

$$\leq -\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + 2w\lambda\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + w(2\langle\varphi, F(\varphi)\rangle + \int_{E} \|B(v, \varphi)\|_{H}^{2} \beta(dv)).$$

Since we assume F(0) = 0, B(v,0) = 0, using the Lipschitz condition, we get $\mathcal{L}\psi(\varphi) \le -\|\varphi\|_H^2 + w(2\lambda + 2\sqrt{k} + k)\|\varphi\|_H^2$.

Hence if w is small enough, $\psi(\varphi)$ satisfies (5.4). Therefore we have the following theorem.

Theorem 5.2.3. If the solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of (3.1) is exponentially stable in the m.s.s., F(0) = 0, B(v,0) = 0 and $\phi(\varphi) = \int_0^{\infty} E \|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2 dt$ is in $C_b^{2,loc}(H)$, then the function $\psi(\varphi)$ constructed above satisfies (5.3) and (5.4).

Since we have difficulty showing $\phi(\varphi) \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$, we turn to use the first order approximation to study the exponential stability in the m.s.s. of the solution of the nonlinear equation (3.1).

Theorem 5.2.4. Suppose the solution $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ of equation (5.7) is exponentially stable in the m.s.s., and it satisfies (5.2). Then the solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of (3.1) is exponentially stable in the m.s.s. if

$$2\|z\|_{H}\|F(z)\|_{H} + \int_{E} \|B(v,z) - B_{0}(v)z\|_{H}\|B(v,z) + B_{0}(v)z\|_{H} \beta(dv) < \frac{\theta}{c}\|z\|_{H}^{2}.$$
 (5.13)

Proof. Let $\psi_0(z) = \langle Rz, z \rangle + w \|z\|_H^2$ as defined in (5.9). Since $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ satisfies (5.2), $\|R\| < \frac{c}{\theta}$. Since $\psi_0(z) \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ and satisfies (5.3), if we can show that $\psi_0(z)$ satisfies (5.4), then by using Theorem 5.2.1, we are done. Since

$$\mathcal{L}\psi_{0}(z) - \mathcal{L}_{0}\psi_{0}(z)$$

$$= \langle \psi'_{0}(z), F(z) \rangle + \int_{E} \left[\psi_{0}(z + B(v, z)) - \psi_{0}(z) - \langle \psi'_{0}(z), B(v, z) \rangle \right] \beta(dv)$$

$$- \int_{E} \left[\psi_{0}(z + B_{0}(v)z) - \psi_{0}(z) - \langle \psi'_{0}(z), B_{0}(v)z) \rangle \right] \beta(dv)$$

$$=2\langle (R+w)z, F(z)\rangle + \int_{E} (\langle (R+w)B(v,z), B(v,z)\rangle - \langle (R+w)B_{0}(v)z, B_{0}(v)z\rangle) \beta(dv) \leq 2(\|R\|+w)\|z\|_{H} \|F(z)\|_{H} + (\|R\|+w) \int_{E} \|B(v,z) - B_{0}(v)z\|_{H} \|B(v,z) + B_{0}(v)z\|_{H} \beta(dv) = (\|R\|+w)(2\|z\|_{H} \|F(z)\|_{H} + \int_{E} \|B(v,z) - B_{0}(v)z\|_{H} \|B(v,z) + B_{0}(v)z\|_{H} \beta(dv)),$$
 (5.14)

by (5.11) and the assumption (5.13), $\mathcal{L}\psi_0(z)$ satisfies (5.4) if we choose w small enough.

The following example shows that the usual Lyapunov function is not bounded below.

Example 5.2.1. Consider the SPDE

$$d_t u(t,x) = \left(\alpha^2 \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2} + \gamma u\right) dt + \int_{|v| \le 1} uv \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt)$$

with initial condition $u(0,x) = \varphi(x) \in L^2(-\infty,+\infty) \cap L^1(-\infty,+\infty)$, \tilde{N} is the compensated Poisson random measure.

Let
$$H = L^2(-\infty, +\infty)$$
, $Au = \alpha^2 \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2} + \gamma u$, $B(u, v) = uv$, $|u| = (\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u^2 dx)^{1/2}$.

Now we compute $E|u^{\varphi}(t)|^2$ explicitly. Taking the Fourier transformation of the SPDE, we get

$$\begin{split} d_t \widehat{u}(t,\lambda) = & (-\alpha^2 \lambda^2 \widehat{u}(t,\lambda) + \gamma \widehat{u}(t,\lambda)) \, dt + \int_{|v| \le 1} \widehat{u}(t,\lambda) v \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt) \\ = & (-\alpha^2 \lambda^2 + \gamma) \widehat{u}(t,\lambda) \, dt + \int_{|v| \le 1} \widehat{u}(t,\lambda) v \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt). \end{split}$$

So we have

$$\widehat{u}(t,\lambda) = \widehat{\varphi}(\lambda) + \int_0^t (-\alpha^2 \lambda^2 + \gamma) \widehat{u}(s,\lambda) \, ds + \int_0^t \int_{|v| \le 1} \widehat{u}(t,\lambda) v \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds).$$

Now using Ito formula on $|\widehat{u}(t,\lambda)|^2$ and taking expectation, we have

$$\begin{aligned} &E|\widehat{u}(t,\lambda)|^2 \\ &= |\widehat{\varphi}(\lambda)|^2 + 2(-\alpha^2\lambda^2 + \gamma) \int_0^t E|\widehat{u}(s,\lambda)|^2 \, ds + \int_0^t \int_{|v| \le 1} v^2 \, \beta(dv) E|\widehat{u}(s,\lambda)|^2 \, ds \\ &= |\widehat{\varphi}(\lambda)|^2 + \left[2(-\alpha^2\lambda^2 + \gamma) + \int_{|v| \le 1} v^2 \, \beta(dv) \right] \int_0^t E|\widehat{u}(s,\lambda)|^2 \, ds. \end{aligned}$$

So solving this equation, we get

$$E|\widehat{u}(t,\lambda)|^2 = |\widehat{\varphi}(\lambda)|^2 e^{\left\{-2\alpha^2\lambda^2 + 2\gamma + \int_{|v| \le 1} v^2 \beta(dv)\right\}t}$$

By the Plancheral theorem, with $H = L^2(-\infty, +\infty)$.

$$|u^{\varphi}(t,\cdot)|^2 = |\widehat{u}^{\varphi}(t,\cdot)|^2,$$

and hence we have

$$E|u^{\varphi}(t)|^{2} = E|\widehat{u}^{\varphi}(t)|^{2} = E\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\widehat{u}(t,\lambda)|^{2} d\lambda$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\widehat{\varphi}(\lambda)|^{2} e^{\left\{-2\alpha^{2}\lambda^{2} + 2\gamma + \int_{|v| \le 1} v^{2} \beta(dv)\right\} t} d\lambda.$$

If we assume $2\gamma + \int_{|v| \le 1} v^2 \beta(dv) < 0$, then we get

$$E|u^{\varphi}(t)|^{2} \leq |\varphi|^{2}e^{\left\{2\gamma + \int_{|v| \leq 1} v^{2} \beta(dv)\right\}t}.$$

Hence the solution of the SPDE is stable. But

$$\int_0^\infty E|u^{\varphi}(t)|^2 dt = \int_{-\infty}^\infty |\widehat{\varphi}(\lambda)|^2 \frac{1}{2\alpha^2\lambda^2 - (2\gamma + \int_{|v| \le 1} v^2 \beta(dv))} d\lambda.$$

Thus the usual Lyapunov function $\int_0^\infty E \left| u^{\varphi}(t) \right|^2 dt$ is not bounded below.

5.3 Stability in probability

Definition 5.3.1. Let $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ be the mild solution of (3.1). We say that the zero solution of the equation is *stable in probability* if

$$\lim_{\|\varphi\|_H \to 0} P\Big(\sup_t \|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_H > \varepsilon\Big) = 0 \text{ for each } \varepsilon > 0.$$

Theorem 5.3.1. Let $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ be the solution of equation (3.1). If there exists a function $\psi(x) \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ having the properties:

(i) $c_1||x||_H^2 \leq \psi(x) \leq c_2||x||_H^2$, where c_1 and c_2 are positive constants,

(ii)
$$\inf_{\|x\|_H > \varepsilon} \psi(x) = \lambda_{\varepsilon} > 0$$
,

(iii)
$$\mathcal{L}\psi(x) \leq 0$$
, for $\forall x \in H$,

then the zero solution of equation (3.1) is stable in probability.

Proof. We first obtain the inequality

$$P\left(\sup_{t} \|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_{H} > \varepsilon\right) \leq \frac{\psi(\varphi)}{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}, \text{ for } \varphi \in H.$$

To prove this, let $O_{\varepsilon} = \{x \in H : ||x||_{H} < \varepsilon\}, T_{\varepsilon} = \inf\{t : ||Z^{\varphi}(t)||_{H} > \varepsilon\}$. Now consider the process $Z^{\varphi}(t \wedge T_{\varepsilon})$. Using Ito formula on $\psi(x)$ and $Z_{n}^{\varphi}(t \wedge T_{\varepsilon})$ and taking expectation, we have $E\psi(Z_{n}^{\varphi}(t \wedge T_{\varepsilon})) - \psi(Z_{n}^{\varphi}(0)) = E\int_{0}^{t \wedge T_{\varepsilon}} \mathcal{L}_{n}\psi(Z_{n}^{\varphi}(s \wedge T_{\varepsilon})) ds$. Now using a technique similar to that used in Theorem 5.2.1 and

$$\mathcal{L}_n\psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(s\wedge T_{\varepsilon}))\leq -\mathcal{L}\psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(s\wedge T_{\varepsilon}))+\mathcal{L}_n\psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(s\wedge T_{\varepsilon})),$$

we can get $E\psi(Z^{\varphi}(t\wedge T_{\varepsilon}))\leq \psi(\varphi)$, so

$$\psi(\varphi) \ge E\psi(Z^{\varphi}(t \wedge T_{\varepsilon})) > \lambda_{\varepsilon} P(T_{\varepsilon} < t).$$

This proves the inequality. Now let $\varphi \to 0$, and we get the assertion.

The function constructed in Theorem 5.2.2 for the linear equation (5.7) satisfies the condition of Theorem 5.3.1. Hence we get the following theorem.

Theorem 5.3.2. The solution $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ of the linear equation (5.7) is stable in probability if it is exponentially stable in the m.s.s..

For the stability in probability of the zero solution of the nonlinear equation (3.1), we have the following Theorem.

Theorem 5.3.3. If the solution $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ of the linear equation (5.7) is exponentially stable in the m.s.s. and

$$2\|x\|_{H}\|F(x)\|_{H} + \int_{E} \|B(v,x) - B_{0}(v)x\|_{H} \|B(v,x) + B_{0}(v)x\|_{H} \beta(dv) < w\|x\|_{H}^{2}$$
 (5.15)

for some w small enough in a sufficient small neighborhood of x = 0, then the zero solution of the nonlinear equation (3.1) is stable in probability.

Proof. Since the solution $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ of the linear equation (5.7) is exponentially stable in the m.s.s, we define $\psi_0(x) = \langle Rx, x \rangle + w \|x\|_H^2$ as in (5.9). By (5.14) and assumption (5.15), we get $\mathcal{L}\psi_0(x) \leq 0$. Obviously, $\psi_0(x)$ satisfies the other condition of Theorem 5.2.4. Therefore our assertion holds.

5.4 Exponential ultimate boundedness in m.s.s.

In this section, we study exponentially ultimate boundedness properties of the mild solution of (3.1). We will give a necessary and sufficient condition in terms of a

Lyapunov function for the linear case and use the first order approximation to study the nonlinear case.

Definition 5.4.1. The solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of (3.1) is exponentially ultimately bounded in the m.s.s. if there exist positive constants c, θ, M such that

$$E\|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_{H}^{2} \le ce^{-\theta t}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + M \tag{5.16}$$

for $\forall \varphi \in H$.

Definition 5.4.2. The solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of (3.1) is ultimately bounded in the m.s.s. if there exist positive constant K such that

$$\overline{\lim}_{t \to \infty} E \|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_{H}^{2} \le K \tag{5.17}$$

for $\forall \varphi \in H$.

Definition 5.4.3. A stochastic process $\{\xi(t), t > 0\}$ is said to be bounded in probability if the random variables $|\xi(t)|$ are bounded in probability uniformly in t; i.e.,

$$\sup_{t>0} P\{ |\xi(t)| > R \} \to 0, \text{ as } R \to \infty.$$

Remarks.

- (1) If M=0, we get that the zero solution is exponentially stable in the m.s.s..
- (2) It is clear that exponentially ultimately boundedness implies ultimately boundedness.
- (3) Ultimately boundedness implies bounded in probability (by using Chebyshev's inequality).

Theorem 5.4.1. The mild solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of (3.1) is exponentially ultimately bounded in the m.s.s. if there exists a function $\psi: H \to R$, also $\psi \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ satisfying the conditions:

$$c_1 \|x\|_H^2 - k_1 \le \psi(x) \le c_3 \|x\|_H^2 - k_3 \tag{5.18}$$

$$\mathcal{L}\psi(x) \le -c_2\psi(x) + k_2 \tag{5.19}$$

for $\forall x \in H$, where $c_1 > 0, c_2 > 0, c_3 > 0, k_1, k_2, k_3$ are constants.

Proof. The proof of this theorem is similar to that of Theorem 5.2.1. Applying Ito formula to $e^{c_2t}\psi(x)$ and $Z_n^{\varphi}(t)$ and taking expectation, we get

$$e^{c_2 t} E \psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(t)) - \psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(0)) = E \int_0^t e^{c_2 s} (c_2 + \mathcal{L}_n) \psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(s)) ds,$$

where

$$c_2\psi(x) + \mathcal{L}_n\psi(x) \le -\mathcal{L}\psi(x) + k_2 + \mathcal{L}_n\psi(x).$$

As before, we get

$$e^{c_2 t} E \psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(t)) - \psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(0)) \le \int_0^t e^{c_2 s} k_2 \, ds = \frac{k_2}{c_2} (e^{c_2 t} - 1);$$

i.e.,

$$e^{c_2 t} E \psi(Z_n^{\varphi}(t)) \le \psi(\varphi) + \int_0^t e^{c_2 s} k_2 \, ds.$$
 (5.20)

So

$$Ec_1 ||Z^{\varphi}(t)||_H^2 - k_1 \le e^{-c_2 t} (c_3 ||\varphi||_H^2 - k_3) + \frac{k_2}{c_2} (1 - e^{-c_2 t});$$

i.e.,

$$E\|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_{H}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{c_{1}} \left[c_{3}e^{-c_{2}t} \|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} - k_{3}e^{-c_{2}t} + k_{1} + \frac{k_{2}}{c_{2}} (1 - e^{-c_{2}t}) \right]$$

$$\leq \frac{c_{3}}{c_{1}}e^{-c_{2}t} \|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} - \frac{k_{3}}{c_{1}}e^{-c_{2}t} + \frac{k_{1}}{c_{1}} + \frac{k_{2}}{c_{1}c_{2}} (1 - e^{-c_{2}t}).$$

So there exist positive constants c, θ and M, such that

$$E||Z^{\varphi}(t)||_H^2 \le ce^{-\theta t}||\varphi||_H^2 + M$$
, for $\forall \varphi \in H$.

So $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ is exponentially ultimate bounded in m.s.s..

From (5.20), we have the following result.

Corollary 5.4.1. Suppose all the conditions in Theorem (5.4.1) hold except condition (5.18) is changed to

$$c_1 ||x||_H^2 - k_1 \le \psi(x).$$

Then the the mild solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of (3.1) is ultimately bounded in the m.s.s., so it is bounded in probability.

Remark. The above corollary is a generalization of Skorokhod's work ([40], Theorem 25, p.70).

For the converse problem, we first look at the linear equation (5.7) and have the following result.

Theorem 5.4.2. If the solution $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ of equation (5.7) is exponentially ultimately bounded in the m.s.s., then there exists a function $\psi_0 \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ satisfying (5.18) and (5.19) with \mathcal{L} replaced by \mathcal{L}_0 .

Proof. Suppose the solution $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ of equation (5.7) is exponentially ultimately bounded in the m.s.s.. We suppose (5.16) holds. Let

$$\psi_0(\varphi) = \int_0^T E \|Z_0^{\varphi}(s)\|_H^2 \, ds + w \|\varphi\|_H^2, \tag{5.21}$$

where T is a positive constant to be determined later. First let's show $\psi_0 \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$. Let $\varphi_0(x) = \int_0^T E \|Z_0^x(t)\|_H^2 dt$. Using (5.16),

$$\varphi_0(x) \le \int_0^T (ce^{-\theta t} ||x||_H^2 + M) dt \le \frac{c}{\theta} ||x||_H^2 + MT.$$
 (5.22)

If $||x||_H^2 = 1$, then $\varphi_0(x) \leq \frac{c}{\theta} + MT$. Since $Z_0^x(t)$ is linear in x, for any positive constant k, we have $Z_0^{kx}(t) = kZ_0^x(t)$. Hence $\varphi_0(kx) = k^2\varphi_0(x)$. Therefore, for any $x \in H$,

$$\varphi_0(x) = \|x\|_H^2 \varphi_0\left(\frac{x}{\|x\|_H}\right) \le \left(\frac{c}{\theta} + MT\right) \|x\|_H^2.$$

Let $c' = \frac{c}{\theta} + MT$. Then $\varphi_0(x) \le c' \|x\|_H^2$ for $\forall x \in H$. Let

$$T(x,y) = \int_0^T E\langle Z_0^x(s), Z_0^y(s) \rangle \, ds$$

for $\forall x, y \in H$. Then T is a bilinear form on H, and by using the Schwartz inequality, we get

$$|T(x,y)| = \left| \int_0^T E\langle Z_0^x(s), Z_0^y(s) \rangle \, ds \right|$$

$$\leq \int_0^T (E \| Z_0^x(s) \|_H^2)^{1/2} (E \| Z_0^y(s) \|_H^2)^{1/2} \, ds$$

$$\leq \left(\int_0^T E \| Z_0^x(s) \|_H^2 \, ds \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_0^T E \| Z_0^y(s) \|_H^2 \, ds \right)^{1/2}$$

$$= \varphi_0(x)^{1/2} \varphi_0(y)^{1/2} \leq c' \|x\|_H \|y\|_H.$$

Hence there exists a continuous linear operator $C \in L(H, H)$ (Yosida [45]), such that $T(x,y) = \langle Cx,y \rangle$, and $\|C\| = \sup_{\|x\|_H = 1, \|y\|_H = 1} |\langle Cx,y \rangle| \le c'$. Since $\varphi_0(x) = T(x,x) = \langle Cx,x \rangle$. So $\varphi_0'(x) = 2Cx$ and $\varphi_0''(x) = 2C$. Hence $\varphi_0 \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ and $\psi_0(\varphi) \in C_b^{2,loc}(H)$. By (5.22) and the fact that $\psi_0(\varphi) \ge w \|\varphi\|_H^2$, (5.18) is satisfied. By the continuity of $t \to E \|Z_0^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2$, we get

$$\mathcal{L}_0\varphi_0(\varphi) = \frac{d}{dr} \left(E\varphi_0(Z_0^{\varphi}(r)) \right) \Big|_{r=0} = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{E\varphi_0(Z_0^{\varphi}(r)) - E\varphi_0(\varphi)}{r}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \lim_{r \to 0} \left(-\frac{1}{r} \int_0^r E \| Z_0^{\varphi}(s) \|_H^2 \, ds + \frac{1}{r} \int_T^{r+T} E \| Z_0^{\varphi}(s) \|_H^2 \, ds \right) \\ &= - \| \varphi \|_H^2 + E \| Z_0^{\varphi}(T) \|_H^2 \le - \| \varphi \|_H^2 + c e^{-\theta T} \| \varphi \|_H^2 + M \\ &\le (-1 + c e^{-\theta T}) \| \varphi \|_H^2 + M. \end{split}$$

Therefore using (5.10),

$$\mathcal{L}_{0}\psi_{0}(\varphi) = \mathcal{L}_{0}\varphi_{0}(\varphi) + 2\mathcal{L}_{0}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$\leq (-1 + ce^{-\theta T})\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + w(2\lambda + d)\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + M. \tag{5.23}$$

Therefore, if $T > \ln \frac{c}{\theta}$, then we can choose α small enough such that $\psi_0(\varphi)$ satisfies (5.19) with \mathcal{L} replaced by \mathcal{L}_0 .

For the solution of the nonlinear equation (3.1), if $\psi(\varphi) = \int_0^T E \|Z^{\varphi}(s)\|_H^2 ds + w\|\varphi\|_H^2$ is in $C_b^{2,loc}(H)$, we can follow the proof of Theorem 5.4.2 and Theorem 5.2.3 and have the following result.

Theorem 5.4.3. If the solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of (3.1) is exponentially ultimate bounded in the m.s.s., and $\phi(\varphi) = \int_0^T E \|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2 dt$ is in $C_b^{2,loc}(H)$ for some T > 0, then there exists a Lyapunov function for $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ which satisfies (5.18) and (5.19).

Now, we use the first order approximation to study the properties of exponentially ultimate bounded in the m.s.s. of the solution of the nonlinear equation based on the same property of the solution of the linear equation.

Theorem 5.4.4. Suppose the solution $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ of (5.7) is exponentially ultimately bounded in the m.s.s., and it satisfies (5.16). Then the solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of the equation

(3.1) is exponentially ultimate bounded in the m.s.s. if

$$2\|z\|_{H}\|F(z)\|_{H} + \int_{E} \|B(v,z) - B_{0}(v)z\|_{H}\|B(v,z) + B_{0}(v)z\|_{H} \beta(dv) < W\|z\|_{H}^{2} + M_{1}$$
(5.24)

for any constant M₁ and

$$W < \max_{s > \ln \frac{c}{\theta}} \frac{1 - ce^{-\theta s}}{\frac{c}{\theta} + Ms}.$$
 (5.25)

Proof. Let $\psi_0(z)$ be the Lyapunov function as defined in (5.21) with $T > \ln \frac{c}{\theta}$ such that (5.25) attains its maximum at T. We just need to show that $\psi_0(x)$ satisfies (5.19). Since $\psi_0(z) = (Cz, z) + w \|z\|_H^2$ for some $C \in L(H, H)$ with $\|C\| \le \frac{c}{\theta} + MT$ and w very small, following (5.14), we have

$$\mathcal{L}\psi_{0}(z) - \mathcal{L}_{0}\psi_{0}(z)$$

$$\leq \|C\| + w) \Big(2\|z\|_{H} \|F(z)\|_{H} + \int_{E} \|B(v, z) - B_{0}(v)z\|_{H} \|B(v, z) + B_{0}(v)z\|_{H} \beta(dv) \Big)$$

$$\leq \Big(\frac{c}{\theta} + MT + w \Big) \Big(W\|z\|_{H}^{2} + M_{1} \Big).$$

Using (5.23)

$$\mathcal{L}\psi_{0}(z) \leq (-1 + ce^{-\theta T}) \|z\|_{H}^{2} + w(2\lambda + d) \|z\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$+ M + \left(\frac{c}{\theta} + MT + w\right) (W\|z\|_{H}^{2} + M_{1})$$

$$= \left(-1 + ce^{-\theta T} + W\left(\frac{c}{\theta} + MT\right)\right) \|z\|_{H}^{2} + w(2\lambda + d + W) \|z\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$+ M + \left(\frac{c}{\theta} + MT + w\right) M_{1}.$$

Since W satisfies (5.25), $-1 + ce^{-\theta T} + W(\frac{c}{\theta} + MT) < 0$, and hence we can choose w small enough such that (5.19) is satisfied.

Corollary 5.4.2. Suppose the solution $Z_0^{\varphi}(t)$ of equation (5.7) is exponentially ultimate bounded in the m.s.s., if as $\|\varphi\|_H \to \infty$,

$$||F(\varphi)||_H = o(||\varphi||_H)$$

$$\int_{E} \|B(v,\varphi) - B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H} \|B(v,\varphi) + B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H} \beta(dv) = o(\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2}).$$

Then the solution $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ of (3.1) is exponentially ultimately bounded in the m.s.s..

Proof. Since as $\|\varphi\|_H \to \infty$, $\|F(\varphi)\|_H = o(\|\varphi\|_H)$ and

$$\int_{E} \|B(v,\varphi) - B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H} \|B(v,\varphi) + B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H} \beta(dv) = o(\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2}),$$

for any fixed W satisfying (5.25), there exists an K > 0, such that

$$2\|\varphi\|_{H}\|F(\varphi)\|_{H} + \int_{E} \|B(v,\varphi) - B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H}\|B(v,\varphi) + B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H} \beta(dv) \leq W\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2}$$
 for all $\|\varphi\|_{H} \geq K$.

But for $\|\varphi\|_H \leq K$, by the Lipschitz condition,

$$2\|\varphi\|_{H}\|F(\varphi)\|_{H} + \int_{E} \|B(v,\varphi) - B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H}\|B(v,\varphi) + B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H}\beta(dv)$$

$$\leq \|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + \|F(\varphi)\|_{H}^{2} + \int_{E} (\|B(v,\varphi)\|_{H} + \|B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H})^{2}\beta(dv)$$

$$\leq \|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + l(1 + \|\varphi\|_{H}^{2}) + 2l(1 + \|\varphi\|_{H}^{2})$$

$$\leq K^{2} + 3l(1 + K^{2}).$$

Therefore

$$2\|\varphi\|_{H}\|F(\varphi)\|_{H} + \int_{E} \|B(v,\varphi) - B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H} \|B(v,\varphi) + B_{0}(v)\varphi\|_{H} \beta(dv)$$

$$\leq W\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + K^{2} + 3l(1+K^{2}).$$

The assertion follows from Theorem 5.4.4.

Corollary 5.4.3. Consider the following system

$$du(t) = Au(t) dt + F(u(t)) dt + \int_{E} B(u(t), v) \widetilde{N}(dv dt)$$
$$u(0) = \varphi.$$

Suppose F and B satisfy Lipschitz and growth condition defined as before and A is an infinitesimal generator of a C_0 -semigroup. Then if the solution $\{u^{\varphi}(t), t \geq 0\}$ of

$$du(t) = Au(t)dt$$

$$u(0) = \varphi$$

is exponentially stable (or even exponentially ultimately bounded), as $\|\varphi\|_H \to \infty$, $\|F(\varphi)\|_H = o(\|\varphi\|_H)$ and

$$\int_E \|B(v,\varphi)\|_H^2 \, \beta(dv) = o(\|\varphi\|_H^2).$$

Then the solution of the above equation is exponentially ultimately bounded in the m.s.s..

Proof. This follows exactly from Corollary 5.4.2.

Example 5.4.1. Let us consider the system,

$$du(t) = -\lambda u(t)dt + \frac{1}{1 + |u(t)|} dt + \int_{R} v \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dt),$$
$$u(0) = \varphi,$$

where u(t) is real valued. By the above argument, we know u(t) is exponentially ultimate bounded in the m.s.s..

Chapter 6

Invariant measures

We will continue to study the properties of the solution in this chapter. The conditions for the existence and uniqueness of an invariant measure associated to the solution are given, and finally an example is given to illustrate our theory.

6.1 Introduction

Let H be a real, separable Hilbert space defined before and $\mathcal{B}(H)$ be the Borel σ algebra. Let Z(t) be a Markov process with transition probability $P(t, y, B), t \geq$ $0, y \in H, B \in \mathcal{B}(H)$. We define $T(t): M_b(H) \to M_b(H)$, its semigroup, by

$$[T(t)h](y) = \int_H h(z)P(t,y,dz), h \in M_b(H),$$

where $M_b(H)$ is the space of bounded measurable functions on H.

Definition 6.1.1. Let $C_b(H)$ $(C_w(H))$ be the space of bounded continuous (weakly continuous) functions on H. The semigroup T(t) (or the Markov process Z(t)) is said to be Feller (w-Feller) if $T(t)C_b(H) \subset C_b(H)$ $(T(t)C_w(H) \subset C_w(H))$ for $t \geq 0$.

Definition 6.1.2. A sequence of probability measures μ_n on $\mathcal{B}(H)$ is said to be weakly (w-weakly) convergent to a probability measure μ if for any $h \in C_b(H)$ ($C_w(H)$)

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_H h(y)\,\mu_n(dy)=\int_H h(y)\,\mu(dy).$$

Definition 6.1.3. The set M of probability measures on $\mathcal{B}(H)$ is weakly (w-weakly) compact, if from any sequence of probability measures in M, a weakly (w-weakly) convergent subsequence can be extracted.

Definition 6.1.4. Let μ be a σ -finite measure and let $\mu T_t(A) = \int_H P(t, y, A) \mu(dy)$. Then μ is said to be an *invariant measure* associated to the Markov process if $\mu T_t = \mu$ for all $t \geq 0$.

6.2 Existence and uniqueness of an invariant measure

We first recall some known results.

Theorem 6.2.1. The set M of probability measures on $\mathcal{B}(H)$ is weakly compact iff for each $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a compact set $K \subset H$ such that $\sup\{\mu(H \setminus K); \mu \in M\} < \varepsilon$.

Remark. This is Y. V. Prokhorov's theorem (Billingsley [2]).

Theorem 6.2.2. The set M of probability measures on $\mathcal{B}(H)$ is weakly compact iff two conditions below hold.

i) For any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists c > 0 such that $\mu\{y : ||y||_H > c\} < \varepsilon$ for all $\mu \in M$.

ii) The series $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |B_{\mu}^{c}e_{k}|^{2}$ is uniformly convergent in μ for each c > 0 in some orthonormal basis $\{e_{k}\}$, where $|B_{\mu}^{c}z|^{2} = \int_{\|y\|_{H} \leq c} \langle z, y \rangle^{2} \mu(dy)$ for $z \in H$.

Remark. This is a result from Gikhman and Skorokhod's book ([11]).

Theorem 6.2.3. The set M of probability measures on $\mathcal{B}(H)$ is w-weakly compact if for each $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a weakly compact set $K \subset H$ such that $\sup\{\mu(H \setminus K); \mu \in M\} < \varepsilon$.

Remark. This is Y. V. Prokhorov's theorem under the weak topology.

The following lemma is also known (Ichikawa [15]). It will be used often in what follows. We give the proof here.

Lemma 6.2.1. Let p > 1 and g be a nonnegative locally p-integrable function on $[0, +\infty)$. Then for each $\varepsilon > 0$ and real d

$$\left(\int_0^t e^{d(t-r)}g(r)\,dr\right)^p \le C(\varepsilon,p)\int_0^t e^{p(d+\varepsilon)(t-r)}g^p(r)\,dr,$$

for t large enough, where $C(\varepsilon, p) = (1 + q\varepsilon)^{p/q}$ with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$.

Proof. First, we use Hölder's inequality to get

$$\int_{0}^{t} e^{d(t-r)} g(r) dr = \int_{0}^{t} [e^{(d+\epsilon)(t-r)} g(r)] [e^{-\epsilon(t-r)}] dr
\leq \left[\int_{0}^{t} [e^{(d+\epsilon)(t-r)} g(r)]^{p} dr \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \left[\int_{0}^{t} [e^{-\epsilon(t-r)}]^{q} dr \right]^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

So we have

$$\left[\int_0^t e^{d(t-r)}g(r)\,dr\right]^p \le \int_0^t e^{p(d+\varepsilon)(t-r)}g^p(r)\,dr\left[\int_0^t \left[e^{-\varepsilon(t-r)}\right]^q\,dr\right]^{\frac{p}{q}}.$$

Observe that

$$\int_0^t \left[e^{-\varepsilon(t-r)}\right]^q dr = \int_0^t e^{-\varepsilon q(t-r)} dr = \frac{1}{\varepsilon q} (1 - e^{-\varepsilon qt}).$$

So for any given $\varepsilon > 0, q > 1$, we need to prove

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon q}(1 - e^{-\varepsilon qt}) \le 1 + q\varepsilon,$$

or we need to prove that

$$e^{-\varepsilon qt} + q\varepsilon + q^2\varepsilon^2 - 1 \ge 0.$$

Because when $\varepsilon=0, e^{-\varepsilon qt}+q\varepsilon+q^2\varepsilon^2-1=0$, and

$$\frac{d}{d\varepsilon}(e^{-\varepsilon qt} + q\varepsilon + q^2\varepsilon^2 - 1) = -qte^{-\varepsilon qt} + q + 2q^2\varepsilon = q(-te^{-\varepsilon qt} + 1 + 2q\varepsilon),$$

when t is large enough, we have $q(-te^{-\epsilon qt} + 1 + 2q\epsilon) > 0$, and so $\frac{1}{\epsilon q}(1 - e^{-\epsilon qt}) \le 1 + q\epsilon$.

The following lemma is from Liu and Mandrekar [25].

Lemma 6.2.2. Suppose $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ is ultimately bounded. Then for any invariant measure m of the Markov process $Z^{\varphi}(t)$, we have

$$\int_{H} \|y\|_{H}^{2} m(dy) \le K' < \infty.$$

Proof. Put $f(x) = ||x||_H^2$ and $f_n(x) = I_{[0,n]}(f(x))f(x)$, where I is a characteristic function. We note that $f_n(x) \in L^1(H,m)$. From the assumption of ultimate boundedness, there is a constant K such that $\overline{\lim}_{t\to\infty} E||Z^{\varphi}(t)||_H^2 \leq K$ for any $\varphi \in H$. By the ergodic theorem for Markov process with invariant measure (Yosida [45]), the limit

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T P_t f_n(x) \, dt = f_n^*(x) \, (m - a.e.)$$

exists and $E_m f_n^* = E_m f_n$, where

$$P_t f_n(x) = \int_H f_n(y) P(t, x, dy),$$

and $E_m f_n = \int_H f_n(x) m(dx)$. From the inequality $f_n(x) \leq f(x)$ and the assumption of ultimate boundedness, we have

$$f_n^{\bullet}(x) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T P_t f_n(x) dt \le \overline{\lim}_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T P_t f(x) dt$$
$$= \overline{\lim}_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T E \|Z^{\varphi}(t)\|_H^2 dt \le K'.$$

Also from $f_n(x) \uparrow f(x)$ as $n \to \infty$ implies that

$$E_m f = \lim_{n \to \infty} E_m f_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} E_m f_n^* \le K'.$$

Now, we examine the uniqueness of invariant measures. Let $B_R = \{ y : ||y||_H \le R \}$. The following theorem is from Ichikawa [15].

Theorem 6.2.4. Suppose $Z^{\varphi}(t)$ is exponentially ultimately bounded and for each $R > 0, \delta > 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $T_0 = T_0(R, \delta, \varepsilon) > 0$ such that

$$P\{ \|Z^{\varphi_0}(t) - Z^{\varphi_1}(t)\|_H > \delta \} < \varepsilon \text{ for any } \varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in B_R \text{ whenever } t \ge T_0.$$
 (6.1)

Then there exists at most one invariant measure.

Proof. Let m_i , i=0,1, be invariant measures. By Lemma 6.2.2, for each $\varepsilon>0$, there exists an R>0 such that $m_i(H\backslash B_R)<\varepsilon$. Let $h\in C_w(H)$. Then there exists $T=T(\varepsilon,R,h)$ such that $|[T(t)h](\varphi_0)-[T(t)h](\varphi_1)|\leq \varepsilon$, for $\varphi_0,\varphi_1\in B_R$, if $t\geq T$. Now we prove this statement. Let K be a weakly compact set in H. Recall that the weak topology on K is equivalent to the topology defined by the metric

$$\rho(y,z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^k} |\langle e_k, (y-z) \rangle|, y, z \in K$$

for any fundamental subset $\{e_k\}$ of H; namely, the closure of the linear span of $\{e_k\}$ is H. First we shall show that for each $\eta > 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a T_2 , such that $t \geq T_2$ implies

$$P\{|h(Z^{\varphi_0}(t)) - h(Z^{\varphi_1}(t))| \le \eta\} \ge 1 - \varepsilon$$

for all $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in B_R$. By exponential ultimate boundedness, we know there exists T_1 such that $t \geq T_1$ implies $P[Z^{\varphi_0}(t) \in B_R] \geq 1 - \varepsilon/3$ for any $\varphi_0 \in B_R$. Note that h on B_R is uniformly continuous with respect to the metric ρ . Hence there exists a $\delta > 0$, such that $y, z \in B_R$ and $\rho(y, z) \leq \delta$ implies $|h(y) - h(z)| \leq y$. Note also that there exists an integer J such that

$$\sum_{k=J+1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^k} |\langle e_k, y - z \rangle| \leq \frac{\delta}{2}, \text{ for all } y, z \in B_R.$$

Now choose $T_2 \geq T_1$ such that $t \geq T_2$ implies

$$\sum_{k=1}^{J} P[|\langle e_k, Z^{\varphi_0}(t) - Z^{\varphi_1}(t) \rangle| \le \delta/2] \ge 1 - \varepsilon/3$$

for all φ_0 , $\varphi_1 \in B_R$. This is possible by (6.1). Then for $t \geq T_2$, we have

$$P\{|h(Z^{\varphi_0}(t)) - h(Z^{\varphi_1}(t))| \leq \eta\}$$

$$\geq P\{Z^{\varphi_0}(t), Z^{\varphi_1}(t) \in B_R, \rho(Z^{\varphi_0}(t), Z^{\varphi_1}(t)) \leq \delta\}$$

$$\geq P\{Z^{\varphi_0}(t), Z^{\varphi_1}(t) \in B_R, \sum_{k=1}^J \frac{1}{2^k} |\langle e_k, Z^{\varphi_0}(t) - Z^{\varphi_1}(t) \rangle| \leq \delta/2\}$$

$$\geq P\{Z^{\varphi_0}(t), Z^{\varphi_1}(t) \in B_R, |\langle e_k, Z^{\varphi_0}(t) - Z^{\varphi_1}(t) \rangle| \leq \delta/2, k = 1, 2, \dots, J\}$$

$$\geq 1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{3} - \frac{\varepsilon}{3} - \frac{\varepsilon}{3} = 1 - \varepsilon.$$

Now for any given ε , choose T such that $t \geq T$ implies

$$P\{ |h(Z^{\varphi_0}(t)) - h(Z^{\varphi_1}(t))| \le \varepsilon/2 \} \ge 1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{4K_0},$$

where $K_0 = \sup |h(y)| < \infty$. Then

$$E|h(Z^{\varphi_0}(t)) - h(Z^{\varphi_1}(t))| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + 2K_0\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{4K_0}\right) = \varepsilon.$$

Note that

$$\int_{H} h(y) \, m_{i}(dy) = \int_{H} [T(t)h](y) \, m_{i}(dy) \text{ for } i = 0, \ 1.$$

Consider

$$\begin{split} & \left| \int_{H} h(y_{0}) \, m_{0}(dy_{0}) - \int_{H} h(y_{1}) \, m_{1}(dy_{1}) \right| \\ = & \left| \int_{H} \int_{H} \left[h(y_{0}) - h(y_{1}) \right] m_{0}(dy_{0}) \, m_{1}(dy_{1}) \right| \\ = & \left| \int_{H} \int_{H} \left[\left[T(t)h \right] (y_{0}) - \left[T(t)h \right] (y_{1}) \right] m_{0}(dy_{0}) \, m_{1}(dy_{1}) \right| \\ \leq & \int_{H} \int_{H} \left| \left[T(t)h \right] (y_{0}) - \left[T(t)h \right] (y_{1}) \right| m_{0}(dy_{0}) \, m_{1}(dy_{1}) \\ = & \left(\int_{B_{R}} + \int_{H \setminus B_{R}} \right) \left(\int_{B_{R}} + \int_{H \setminus B_{R}} \right) \left| \left[T(t)h \right] (y_{0}) - \left[T(t)h \right] (y_{1}) \right| m_{0}(dy_{0}) \, m_{1}(dy_{1}) \\ \leq & \varepsilon + 2(2K_{0})\varepsilon + 2K_{0}\varepsilon^{2}, \text{ if } t \geq T, \end{split}$$

where $K_0 = \sup |h(y)| < \infty$. Since ε is arbitrary, we conclude $\int_H h(y) m_0(dy) = \int_H h(y) m_1(dy)$, which implies $m_0 = m_1$.

The following Proposition (6.2.1) gives a sufficient condition for (6.1) holds.

Remark. The condition $\langle Ay, y \rangle \leq \alpha ||y||_H^2$ for $y \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ is equivalent to $|S(t)| \leq e^{\alpha t}$, α is real (Ichikawa [17]).

Proposition 6.2.1. Suppose that $\langle y, Ay \rangle \leq -c_0 \|y\|_H^2$, $y \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, and c_0 is the maximum value satisfying the above inequality. Also suppose k is the minimum value satisfy Lipschitz condition. Then if $a = c_0 - 3k > 0$, we have $E\|Z^{\varphi_0}(t) - Z^{\varphi_1}(t)\|_H^2 \leq e^{-2at}\|\varphi_0 - \varphi_1\|_H^2$, for t large enough.

Proof. Let $Z^{\varphi_1}(t)$ and $Z^{\varphi_0}(t)$ be two solutions. Then as in Lemma 3.3.1, we have,

$$\begin{split} &Z^{\varphi_0}(t) - Z^{\varphi_1}(t) \\ = &S(t)(\varphi_0 - \varphi_1) + \int_0^t S(t-s)[F(Z^{\varphi_0}(s)) - F(Z^{\varphi_1}(s))] \, ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s)[B(v, Z^{\varphi_0}(s)) - B(v, Z^{\varphi_1}(s))] \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds). \end{split}$$

So

$$\begin{split} & \|Z^{\varphi_0}(t) - Z^{\varphi_1}(t)\|_H^2 \\ \leq & 3\|S(t)(\varphi_0 - \varphi_1)\|_H^2 + 3\Big\| \int_0^t S(t-s)[F(Z^{\varphi_0}(s)) - F(Z^{\varphi_1}(s))] \, ds \Big\|_H^2 \\ & + 3\Big\| \int_0^t \int_E S(t-s)[B(v, Z^{\varphi_0}(s)) - B(v, Z^{\varphi_1}(s))] \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, ds) \Big\|_H^2. \end{split}$$

So

$$\begin{split} &E\|Z^{\varphi_0}(t)-Z^{\varphi_1}(t)\|_H^2\\ \leq &3e^{-2c_0t}\|\varphi_0-\varphi_1\|_H^2+3E\Big|\int_0^t\|S(t-s)[F(Z^{\varphi_0}(s))-F(Z^{\varphi_1}(s))]\|_H\,ds\Big|^2\\ &+3\int_0^t\int_E E\|B(v,Z^{\varphi_0}(s))-B(v,Z^{\varphi_1}(s))\|_H^2\,\beta(dv)\,ds\\ \leq &3e^{-2c_0t}\|\varphi_0-\varphi_1\|_H^2+3kE\Big(\int_0^te^{-c_0(t-s)}\|Z^{\varphi_0}(s)-Z^{\varphi_1}(s)\|_H\,ds\Big)^2\\ &+3\int_0^tkE\|Z^{\varphi_0}(s)-Z^{\varphi_1}(s)\|_H^2\,ds\\ \leq &3e^{-2c_0t}\|\varphi_0-\varphi_1\|_H^2+3k(1+2\epsilon)\int_0^te^{2(-c_0+\epsilon)(t-s)}E\|Z^{\varphi_0}(s)-Z^{\varphi_1}(s)\|_H^2\,ds\\ &+3k\int_0^tE\|Z^{\varphi_0}(s)-Z^{\varphi_1}(s)\|_H^2\,ds \text{ (by Lemma 6.2.1, ϵ is small positive)}\\ \leq &3e^{-2c_0t}\|\varphi_0-\varphi_1\|_H^2+3k\int_0^tE\|Z^{\varphi_0}(s)-Z^{\varphi_1}(s)\|_H^2\,ds\\ &+3k\int_0^tE\|Z^{\varphi_0}(s)-Z^{\varphi_1}(s)\|_H^2\,ds. \end{split}$$

Letting $\epsilon \to 0$ and $e^{2(-2c_0 + \epsilon)(t - s)} < 1$, we have

$$E\|Z^{\varphi_0}(t) - Z^{\varphi_1}(t)\|_H^2 \le 3e^{-2c_0t}\|\varphi_0 - \varphi_1\|_H^2 + 6k\int_0^t E\|Z^{\varphi_0}(s) - Z^{\varphi_1}(s)\|_H^2 ds.$$

So By Gronwall's inequality, we have

$$E\|Z^{\varphi_0}(t) - Z^{\varphi_1}(t)\|_H^2 \le 3e^{-2c_0t}\|\varphi_0 - \varphi_1\|_H^2 e^{6kt} \le 3e^{(-2c_0 + 6k)t}\|\varphi_0 - \varphi_1\|_H^2. \quad \Box$$

We consider H with weak topology.

Theorem 6.2.5. Suppose T(t) is w-Feller and that

$$\frac{1}{t} \int_0^t E \|Z^{y_0}(r)\|_H^2 dr \le M(1 + \|y_0\|_H^2), \ M > 0 \ and \ for \ any \ t \ge t_0 > 0.$$
 (6.2)

Then there exists an invariant measure.

Proof. For integers $n \geq t_0$, define $m_n(B) = \frac{1}{n} \int_0^n P(r, y_0, B) dr$, $B \in \mathcal{B}(H)$. Then m_n is a probability measure and $\int_H \|y\|_H^2 m_n(dy) \leq M(1 + \|y_0\|_H^2)$. Hence for each $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists R > 0, such that $m_n(B_R) > 1 - \varepsilon$, $B_R = \{ y : \|y\|_H \leq R \}$.

By Theorem 6.2.3, $\{m_n\}$, $n \geq t_0$ is w-weakly compact and there exists a subsequence, again denoted by m_n , which is w-weakly convergent to some probability measure $m_0(\cdot)$. Let $h \in C_w(H)$ be arbitrary. Then

$$\int_{H} [T(t)h](y) \, m_0(dy) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{H} [T(t)h](y) \, m_n(dy) (\text{ since } T(t) \text{ is } w\text{-Feller})$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \int_0^n [T(t+r)h](y_0) \, dr$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \int_t^{t+n} [T(r)h](y_0) \, dr$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \int_0^n [T(r)h](y_0) \, dr \text{ (since } T(t)h \text{ is bounded})$$

$$= \int_{H} h(y) \, m_0(dy).$$

which implies m_0 is an invariant measure of P(t, y, B).

Now, we drop the assumption that T(t) is w-Feller. Assume instead that A is self-adjoint and has eigenvectors $\{e_k\}$, $k=1,2,\ldots$, which form an orthonormal basis for H and eigenvalues

$$-\lambda_k \downarrow -\infty \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$
 (6.3)

Then the semigroup S(t) has the representation,

$$S(t)y = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_k t} \langle e_k, y \rangle e_k, \ y \in H.$$

We have the following result.

Lemma 6.2.3. Assume (6.2) and (6.3) hold. Then $m_t(\cdot) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t P(r, \varphi_0, \cdot) dr$ is weakly compact for $t \ge t_0 > 0$.

Proof. In view of Theorem 6.2.2, it is sufficient to show $\frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} E[Z_k^{\varphi_0}]^2(t) dt$ is uniformly convergent in $T \geq t_0$, where $Z_k^{\varphi_0}(t) = \langle Z^{\varphi_0}(t), e_k \rangle$ and $\{e_k\}$ is the orthonormal basis given in (6.3). We have

$$\begin{split} Z_k^{\varphi_0}(t) = & e^{-\lambda_k t} \varphi_{k0} + \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_k (t-r)} \langle e_k, F(Z^{\varphi_0}(r)) \rangle \, dr \\ & + \int_0^t \int_E e^{-\lambda_k (t-r)} \langle e_k, B(v, Z^{\varphi_0}(r)) \rangle \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr), \end{split}$$

where $\varphi_{k0} = \langle e_k, \varphi_0 \rangle$. Hence

$$E[Z_k^{\varphi_0}(t)]^2 \le 3e^{-2\lambda_k t} \varphi_{k0}^2 + 3E \Big| \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_k (t-r)} \langle e_k, F(Z^{\varphi_0}(r)) \rangle dr \Big|^2$$

$$+ 3E \Big| \int_0^t \int_E e^{-\lambda_k (t-r)} \langle e_k, B(v, Z^{\varphi_0}(r)) \rangle \widetilde{N}(dv dr) \Big|^2.$$

$$(6.4)$$

Now let K be large enough, so that $\lambda_K > 0$. By using Lemma 6.2.1, for any integer m > 0 we can show,

$$\sum_{k=K}^{K+m} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T e^{-2\lambda_k t} \varphi_{k0}^2 \, dt \le \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T e^{-2\lambda_K t} \|\varphi_0\|_H^2 \, dt \le \frac{\|\varphi_0\|_H^2}{2T\lambda_K}.$$

For the second term of the right hand side of the inequality (6.4), one has

$$\sum_{k=K}^{K+m} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T E \left| \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_k (t-r)} \langle e_k, F(Z^{\varphi_0}(r)) \rangle dr \right|^2 dt$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=K}^{K+m} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T E \left(\int_0^t e^{-\lambda_k (t-r)} |\langle e_k, F(Z^{\varphi_0}(r)) \rangle| dr \right)^2 dt,$$

which by Lemma 6.2.1, and $0 < \delta < \lambda_K$ is,

$$\leq \sum_{k=K}^{K+m} \frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} E(1+2\delta) \int_{0}^{t} e^{2(-\lambda_{k}+\delta)(t-r)} |\langle e_{k}, F(Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r)) \rangle|^{2} dr dt \\
\leq \sum_{k=K}^{K+m} \frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} E(1+2\delta) \int_{0}^{t} e^{2(-\lambda_{K}+\delta)(t-r)} |\langle e_{k}, F(Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r)) \rangle|^{2} dr dt.$$

Since $\lambda_k \uparrow \infty$ as $k \to \infty$, the second term of (6.4) is

$$\leq \frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} (1+2\delta) \int_{0}^{t} e^{2(-\lambda_{K}+\delta)(t-r)} E \sum_{k=K}^{K+m} |\langle e_{k}, F(Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r)) \rangle|^{2} dr dt
\leq \frac{(1+2\delta)}{T} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-2(\lambda_{K}-\delta)(t-r)} E ||F(Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r))||_{H}^{2} dr dt,$$

which, by Fubini theorem, is

$$\leq \frac{(1+2\delta)}{T} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{r}^{T} e^{-2(\lambda_{K}-\delta)(t-r)} E \|F(Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r))\|_{H}^{2} dt dr
= \frac{(1+2\delta)}{2(\lambda_{K}-\delta)T} \int_{0}^{T} (1-e^{-2(\lambda_{K}-\delta)(T-r)}) E \|F(Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r))\|_{H}^{2} dr
\leq \frac{(1+2\delta)}{2(\lambda_{K}-\delta)T} \int_{0}^{T} E \|F(Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r))\|_{H}^{2} dr,$$

and by condition (A2) and (6.2),

$$\leq \frac{(1+2\delta)}{2(\lambda_{K}-\delta)T} \int_{0}^{T} El(1+\|Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r)\|_{H}^{2}) dr
\leq \frac{(1+2\delta)l}{2(\lambda_{K}-\delta)} \left(1+\frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} E\|Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r)\|_{H}^{2} dr\right)
\leq \frac{(1+2\delta)l}{2(\lambda_{K}-\delta)} (1+M(1+\|\varphi_{0}\|_{H}^{2})).$$

For the third term of the right hand side of the inequality (6.4), one has,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k=K}^{K+m} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T E \left| \int_0^t \int_E e^{-\lambda_k (t-r)} \langle e_k, B(v, Z^{\varphi_0}(r)) \rangle \, \widetilde{N}(dv \, dr) \right|^2 \, dt \\ &\leq \sum_{k=K}^{K+m} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \left[\int_0^t \int_E E e^{-2\lambda_k (t-r)} |\langle e_k, B(v, Z^{\varphi_0}(r)) \rangle|^2 \, \beta(dv) \, dr \right] \, dt \\ &\leq \sum_{k=K}^{K+m} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \left[\int_0^t \int_E E e^{-2\lambda_K (t-r)} |\langle e_k, B(v, Z^{\varphi_0}(r)) \rangle|^2 \, \beta(dv) \, dr \right] \, dt \\ &\leq \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \left[\int_0^t \int_E e^{-2\lambda_K (t-r)} E \|B(v, Z^{\varphi_0}(r))\|_H^2 \, \beta(dv) \, dr \right] \, dt, \end{split}$$

and by condition (A2), Fubini theorem, and (6.2),

$$\leq \frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} le^{-2\lambda_{K}(t-r)} (1+E\|Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r)\|_{H}^{2}) dr dt
\leq \frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{r}^{T} le^{-2\lambda_{K}(t-r)} (1+E\|Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r)\|_{H}^{2}) dt dr
\leq \frac{l}{T} \int_{0}^{T} \frac{1}{2\lambda_{K}} (1-e^{-2\lambda_{K}(T-r)}) (1+E\|Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r)\|_{H}^{2}) dr
\leq \frac{l}{T} \int_{0}^{T} \frac{1}{2\lambda_{K}} (1+E\|Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r)\|_{H}^{2}) dr
= \frac{l}{2\lambda_{K}} (1+\frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} E\|Z^{\varphi_{0}}(r)\|_{H}^{2} dr)
\leq \frac{l}{2\lambda_{K}} (1+M(1+\|\varphi_{0}\|_{H}^{2})).$$

Thus,

$$\sum_{k=K}^{K+m} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T E[Z_k^{\varphi_0}(t)]^2 dt$$

$$\leq 3 \frac{\|\varphi_0\|_H^2}{2T\lambda_K} + 3 \frac{(1+2\delta)l}{2(\lambda_K - \delta)} (1 + M(1 + \|\varphi_0\|_H^2)) + 3 \frac{l}{2\lambda_K} (1 + M(1 + \|\varphi_0\|_H^2))$$

$$\to 0 \text{ as } K \to \infty \text{ uniformly in } T \geq t_0.$$

Theorem 6.2.6. Assume (6.2) and (6.3) hold. Then there exists an invariant measure for the system.

Proof. Taking $h \in C_b(Y)$ and using Lemma 6.2.3, we can repeat the proof of Theorem 6.2.5.

6.3 An example

The following example shows that $-\lambda_k \downarrow -\infty$ as $k \to \infty$ is not necessary.

Example 6.3.1 (Dam storage problem). We consider the semilinear stochastic differential equation

$$\begin{cases} d\eta(t) = A\eta(t) dt + d\xi(t), & suppose \ d\xi(t) = \int_{H} u \, \widetilde{N}(du \, dt) \\ \\ \eta(0) = \varphi \in H. \end{cases}$$

Here A is an infinitesimal generator of a pseudo-contraction semigroup $\{S(t)\}.$

Compared to the general case

$$\begin{cases} dZ(t) = (AZ(t) + F(Z(t))) dt + \int_E B(v, Z(t)) \widetilde{N}(dv dt) \\ \\ Z(0) = \varphi \in H, \end{cases}$$

we have F = 0, B(v, x) = v. The growth condition and Lipschitz condition are satisfied, so there exists an unique mild solution $\eta^{\varphi}(t)$, such that

$$\eta^{\varphi}(t) = S(t)\varphi + \int_0^t \int_H S(t-s)u \, \widetilde{N}(du \, ds).$$

For any $h \in H$,

$$\langle \eta^{\varphi_1}(t) - \eta^{\varphi_2}(t), h \rangle = \langle S(t)(\varphi_1 - \varphi_2), h \rangle = \langle \varphi_1 - \varphi_2, S^{\bullet}(t)h \rangle,$$

so we have,

$$\langle \eta^{\varphi_1}(t) - \eta^{\varphi_2}(t), h \rangle \to 0$$
, for any $h \in H$ as $\varphi_2 \to \varphi_1$ weakly.

By Ickikawa [15], we know that $\eta^{\varphi}(t)$ is w-Feller.

Now if $|S(t)| \le e^{-\beta t}$, $(\beta > 0)$, we have

$$\begin{split} E\|\eta^{\varphi}(t)\|_{H}^{2} \leq & 2e^{-2\beta t}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + 2\Big\|\int_{0}^{t}\int_{H}S(t-s)u\,\widetilde{N}(du\,ds)\Big\|_{H}^{2} \\ \leq & 2e^{-2\beta t}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + 2\int_{0}^{t}\int_{H}\|S(t-s)u\|_{H}^{2}\,\beta(du)\,ds \\ \leq & 2e^{-2\beta t}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + 2\int_{0}^{t}\int_{H}e^{-2\beta(t-s)}\|u\|_{H}^{2}\,\beta(du)\,ds \\ \leq & 2e^{-2\beta t}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + 2\int_{0}^{t}e^{-2\beta(t-s)}\,ds\int_{H}\|u\|_{H}^{2}\,\beta(du) \\ \leq & 2e^{-2\beta t}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + \frac{1}{\beta}(1-e^{-2\beta t})\int_{H}\|u\|_{H}^{2}\,\beta(du) \\ \leq & 2e^{-2\beta t}\|\varphi\|_{H}^{2} + M, \end{split}$$

where M is a positive constant. So $\eta^{\varphi}(t)$ is exponential ultimate bounded. By Theorem 6.2.4 and Theorem 6.2.5, there exists an unique invariant measure.

Consider $Ae_i = -\lambda e_i$, $\forall i$ with $\lambda > 0$. This shows that $-\lambda_k \downarrow -\infty$ as $k \to \infty$ is not necessary.

6.4 Future research plans

First, we will study the SDE's in Hilbert spaces driven by more general noises, for example, the Lévy processes. Second, we will study the applications of our theory to protein folding problem and finance.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] Billingsley, Patrick *Probability and measure*. Third edition. Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics. A Wiley-Interscience Publication. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1995.
- [2] Billingsley, Patrick Weak convergence of measures: Applications in probability. Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics, No. 5. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia, Pa., 1971.
- [3] Chow, Pao-Liu; Khasminskii, Rafail Z. Stationary solutions of nonlinear stochastic evolution equations. *Stochastic Anal. Appl.* **15** (1997), no. 5, 671–699.
- [4] Chow, Pao-Liu Stationary solutions of some parabolic Ito equations. *Stochastic analysis on infinite-dimensional spaces* (Baton Rouge, LA, 1994), 42–51, Pitman Res. Notes Math. Ser., **310**, Longman Sci. Tech., Harlow, 1994.
- [5] Da Prato, Giuseppe; Zabczyk, Jerzy A note on stochastic convolution. *Stochastic Anal. Appl.* **10** (1992), no. 2, 143–153.
- [6] Da Prato, Giuseppe; Zabczyk, Jerzy Stochastic equations in infinite dimensions. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, 44. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [7] Engel, Klaus-Jochen; Nagel, Rainer One-parameter semigroups for linear evolution equations. With contributions by S. Brendle, M. Campiti, T. Hahn, G. Metafune, G. Nickel, D. Pallara, C. Perazzoli, A. Rhandi, S. Romanelli and R. Schnaubelt. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 194. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000.
- [8] Ethier, Stewart N.; Kurtz, Thomas G. Markov processes. Characterization and convergence. Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics: Probability and Mathematical Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1986.
- [9] Evans, Lawrence C. Partial differential equations. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 19. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1998.
- [10] Gawarecki, L.; Mandrekar, V.; Richard, P. Existence of weak solutions for stochastic differential equations and martingale solutions for stochastic semilinear equations. *Random Oper. Stochastic Equations* 7 (1999), no. 3, 215–240.

- [11] Gikhman, Iosif I.; Skorokhod, Anatoli V. The theory of stochastic processes. I. Translated from the Russian by S. Kotz. Reprint of the 1974 edition. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [12] Gikhman, Iosif I.; Skorokhod, Anatoli V. The theory of stochastic processes. II. Translated from the Russian by S. Kotz. Reprint of the 1975 edition. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [13] Gikhman, Iosif I.; Skorokhod, Anatoli V. The theory of stochastic processes. III. Translated from the Russian by Samuel Kotz. With an appendix containing corrections to Volumes I and II. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, 232. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1979.
- [14] Hille, Einar; Phillips, Ralph S. Functional analysis and semi-groups. rev. ed. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, vol. 31. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R. I., 1957.
- [15] Ichikawa, Akira Semilinear stochastic evolution equations: boundedness, stability and invariant measures. *Stochastics* **12** (1984), no. 1, 1–39.
- [16] Ichikawa, Akira Some inequalities for martingales and stochastic convolutions. Stochastic Anal. Appl. 4 (1986), no. 3, 329–339.
- [17] Ichikawa, Akira Stability of semilinear stochastic evolution equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 90 (1982), no. 1, 12–44.
- [18] Ikeda, Nobuyuki; Watanabe, Shinzo Stochastic differential equations and diffusion processes. Second edition. North-Holland Mathematical Library, 24. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam; Kodansha, Ltd., Tokyo, 1989.
- [19] Kallianpur, G.; Mitoma, I.; Wolpert, R. L. Diffusion equations in duals of nuclear spaces. *Stochastics Stochastics Rep.* **29** (1990), no. 2, 285–329.
- [20] Kallianpur, Gopinath; Xiong, Jie Stochastic differential equations in infinite-dimensional spaces. Expanded version of the lectures delivered as part of the 1993 Barrett Lectures at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN, March 25–27, 1993. With a foreword by Balram S. Rajput and Jan Rosinski. Institute of Mathematical Statistics Lecture Notes—Monograph Series, 26. Institute of Mathematical Statistics, Hayward, CA, 1995.
- [21] Khasminski, R. Stochastic stability of differential equations. Translated from the Russian by D. Louvish. Monographs and Textbooks on Mechanics of Solids and Fluids: Mechanics and Analysis, 7. Sijthoff & Noordhoff, Alphen aan den Rijn—Germantown, Md., 1980.
- [22] Khasminski, R.; Mandrekar, V. On the stability of solutions of stochastic evolution equations. The Dynkin Festschrift, 185–197, Progr. Probab., 34, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1994.

- [23] Krylov, N. V.; Rozovski, B. L. Stochastic evolution equations. (Russian) Current problems in mathematics, Vol. 14 (Russian), pp. 71–147, 256, Akad. Nauk SSSR, Vsesoyuz. Inst. Nauchn. i Tekhn. Informatsii, Moscow, 1979.
- [24] Liu, Ruifeng; Mandrekar, V. Stochastic semilinear evolution equations: Lyapunov function, stability, and ultimate boundedness. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 212 (1997), no. 2, 537–553.
- [25] Liu, Ruifeng; Mandrekar, V. Ultimate boundedness and invariant measures of stochastic evolution equations. Stochastics Stochastics Rep. 56 (1996), no. 1-2, 75-101.
- [26] Mackey, George W. A theorem of Stone and von Neumann. Duke Math. J. 16, (1949). 313–326.
- [27] Mandrekar, V. On Lyapounov stability theorems for stochastic (deterministic) evolution equations. Stochastic analysis and applications in physics (Funchal, 1993), 219–237, NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci., 449, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1994.
- [28] Mandrekar, V.; Rudiger, B. Existence and Uniqueness of path wise solutions for stochastic integral equations driven by non Gaussian noise on separable Banach spaces. *Sonderforschungsbereich 611*, **186**. Rheinische Eriedrich-Wilhelms-University, Bonn.
- [29] Métivier, Michel Semimartingales. A course on stochastic processes. de Gruyter Studies in Mathematics, 2. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin-New York, 1982.
- [30] Métivier, Michel; Pellaumail, Jean Stochastic integration. Probability and Mathematical Statistics. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], New York-London-Toronto, Ont., 1980.
- [31] Miyahara, Yoshio Invariant measures of ultimately bounded stochastic processes. Nagoya Math. J. 49 (1973), 149–153.
- [32] Miyahara, Yoshio Ultimate boundedness of the systems governed by stochastic differential equations. Nagoya Math. J. 47 (1972), 111-144.
- [33] Oksendal, Bernt Stochastic differential equations. An introduction with applications. Fifth edition. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998.
- [34] Pardoux, E. Équations aux dérivées partielles stochastiques de type monotone. (French) Séminaire sur les Équations aux Dérivées Partielles (1974-1975), III, Exp. No. 2, 10 pp. Collège de France, Paris, 1975.
- [35] Pardoux, E. Stochastic partial differential equations and filtering of diffusion processes. *Stochastics* 3, no. 2 (1979), 127–167.

- [36] Parthasarathy, K. R. Probability measures on metric spaces. Probability and Mathematical Statistics, No. 3 Academic Press, Inc., New York-London 1967.
- [37] Rüdiger, B. Stochastic integration with respect to compensated Poisson random measures on separable Banach spaces. Stoch. Stoch. Rep. 76 (2004), no. 3, 213– 242.
- [38] Rüdiger, B.; Ziglio, G. Itö formula for stochastic integrals w.r.t. compensated Poisson random measures on separable Banach spaces. Preprint, 2005.
- [39] Schwartz, J. T. Nonlinear functional analysis. Notes by H. Fattorini, R. Nirenberg and H. Porta, with an additional chapter by Hermann Karcher. Notes on Mathematics and its Applications. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York-London-Paris, 1969.
- [40] Skorokhod, Anatoli V. Asymptotic methods in the theory of stochastic differential equations. Translated from the Russian by H. H. McFaden. Translations of Mathematical Monographs, 78. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1989.
- [41] Skorokhod, Anatoli V. Studies in the theory of random processes. Translated from the Russian by Scripta Technica, Inc. Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Inc., Reading, Mass., 1965
- [42] Viot, Michel Solution en loi d'une quation aux drives partielles stochastique non linaire: mthode de compacit. (French) C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sr. A 278 (1974), 1185-1188.
- [43] Whittle, Peter Systems in stochastic equilibrium. Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics: Applied Probability and Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., Chichester, 1986.
- [44] Yor, M. Existence et unicité de diffusions à valeurs dans un espace de Hilbert. (French) Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Sect. B (N.S.) 10 (1974), 55-88.
- [45] Yosida, Kôsaku Functional analysis. Die Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 123 Academic Press, Inc., New York; Springer-Verlag, Berlin 1965.
- [46] Zakai, Moshe A Lyapunov criterion for the existence of stationary probability distributions for systems perturbed by noise. SIAM J. Control 7 1969 390-397.
- [47] Zakai, Moshe On the ultimate boundedness of moments associated with solutions of stochastic differential equations. SIAM J. Control 5 1967 588–593.

